
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 3rd September, 2015

1.00 pm

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 3rd September, 2015, at 1.00 pm Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership (13)

Conservative (5): Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs P T Cole, 
Mr G Lymer and Mrs J Whittle

UKIP (2): Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman) and Mr B Neaves

Labour (1): Ms C J Cribbon

Liberal Democrat (1): Mr M J Vye

Co-opted Members 
(6):

Mrs T Carpenter, Mr C Dowle, Ms S Dunstan, Mr S Griffiths, Ms C 
Moody and Ms B Taylor

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

Item 
No
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

A.  PANEL BUSINESS
A1 Apologies and substitutes 

A2 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 18 June 2015 (Pages 5 - 14)

A3 Chairman's Announcements 



A4 Meeting Dates for 2016/2017 
The Panel is asked to note that the following dates have been reserved for its 
meetings in 2016 and early 2017:-

Thursday 28 January 2016 – 1.00 pm
Tuesday 15 March 2016 – 1.00 pm
Thursday 26 May 2016 – 10.00 am
Wednesday 20 July 2016 – 1.00 pm
Wednesday 7 September 2016 – 1.00 pm
Wednesday 9 November 2016 – 1.00 pm

Friday 20 January 2017 – 10.00 am
Monday 20 March 2017 – 1.00 pm 

A5 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

A6 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member (Pages 15 - 16)

B.  ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION
B1 Adoption Service Annual Reports for 2014 - 2015 (Pages 17 - 72)

B2 Kent Fostering Annual Report 2014 - 2015 (Pages 73 - 102)

B3 Review of Terms of Reference for Corporate Parenting Panel (Pages 103 - 112)

B4 Review of Health Services for Children Looked After in Kent (Pages 113 - 120)

B5 Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) update report (Pages 121 - 130)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Peter Sass
Head of Democratic Services 
03000 416647

Tuesday, 25 August 2015

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Thursday, 18 June 2015.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr R E Brookbank, Mrs T Carpenter, Mrs P T Cole, Ms C J Cribbon, Mr C Dowle, 
Mr G Lymer, Mrs C Moody, Mr B Neaves, Ms B Taylor, Mr M J Vye and Mrs J Whittle

ALSO PRESENT: Mr P J Oakford

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr P Segurola (Interim Director of Specialist Children's Services), 
Mr T Doran (Head Teacher of Looked After Children - VSK) and Miss T A Grayell 
(Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

80. Membership 
(Item A1)

The Panel noted that:-

 Ms C J Cribbon had joined the Panel in place of Mr R Truelove; and 
 The two extra seats which the Panel had agreed on 9 April to offer to 

representatives of young people in care had been taken up by two of the 
Virtual School Kent apprentices, Mr C Dowle and Ms S Dunstan.  

81. Substitutes and Apologies 

Apologies had been received from Mr S Griffiths.  There were no substitutes. 

82. Election of Vice-Chairman 
(Item A2)

The Chairman proposed and Mrs P Cole seconded that Mrs Z Wiltshire be elected 
Vice-Chairman of the Panel. 

Agreed without a vote.

83. Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 9 April 2015 
(Item A4)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel meeting held on 9 April 2015 are correctly 
recorded and they be signed by the Chairman. There were no matters arising. 

84. Minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group held on 29 May 
2015, and brief verbal update 
(Item A5)



1. Mr M J Vye gave a brief verbal update on issues arising from the minutes, as 
follows:-

 CAMHS – communications between the County Council and the NHS were 
not as they should be, and although work was being progressed on 
commissioning and spending, there was incomplete information available 
about which young people were in receipt of services. Mr Segurola supported 
members about being robust in registering their ongoing concerns about the 
delivery of CAMH services and added that a young person’s engagement with 
the service would in future be recorded on the Liberi database. 

 Challenge cards – good examples of the use of these had been reported to 
the Group and it was hoped that the links between the OCYPC and the 
Corporate Parenting Panel would continue to be strengthened by using these. 

 GCSE scores – the percentage of children achieving five or more A* to C 
grades was disappointing. Mr Doran explained that some inaccuracies had 
been identified in the reported figures and that the actual rate was higher than 
had been reported. He read out the correct figures and, in response to a 
request, undertook to supply a written copy of them to Panel members.  Mr 
Segurola added that rates of GCSE passes would be included on future 
scorecards.

2. RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Kent Corporate Parenting 
Group held on 29 May 2015, and the verbal updates and discussion points 
arising from them, be noted, with thanks. 

85. Chairman's Announcement 
(Item A6)

The Chairman announced that in the Queen’s Birthday Honours list, Yashi Shah, 
Interim Head of Adoption Service, had been awarded an MBE for services to 
children. The Panel recorded its congratulations to Ms Shah on the award and asked 
that Mr P Oakford write to Yashi on the Panel’s behalf to send her its congratulations.

86. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item A7)

1. Ms Taylor and Mr Dowle gave a verbal update on the following issues:-

OCYPC – OCYPC members had taken part in interviews for foster carers and social 
workers and had enjoyed being part of the recruitment process. The self-confidence 
of the young people taking part had increased visibly during the course of the 
interviews.
Kent’s Pledge to Children in Care – this was currently being re-designed, and new 
wording had been agreed.
Challenge cards – the feedback from the trial of these had been good. The current 
challenges were:-

 Helping young people in care to maintain contact with siblings still living with 
their birth parents,

 Involving children in care in the design of business cards which would list a 
social worker’s full contact details, making them easier to contact directly 
when necessary, and



 The County Council setting up a bank account and either paying into and/or 
match-funding young people’s contributions, which would be accessible at 18, 
to help reduce anxiety about their future financial worries.  

Activity days – plans were currently being made for a series of events, including arts 
and crafts and water sports.
Work with disability team – the issues arising from this work had been more 
complex than expected, and the amount of information needed much higher.  It was 
clear that disabled children in care needed dedicated support staff.  Disabled children 
should be supported to enable them to attend VSK activity days. Newly-qualified 
social workers should be targeted for this participation as it would raise their 
awareness of the VSK apprentices’ work in supporting children in care.  This work 
was welcomed as the range of services needed for a disabled child in care was 
extensive, and arranging activities for disabled children was made more complicated 
by the range of needs of different age groups.  
Newsletter – this would shortly be available and would be sent to Panel members via 
the Democratic Services Officer. 
Youth Adult Council – this new council had held its first meeting on 13 April, which 
had gone well. Those taking part had felt well supported. 
Future plans:-

 an OCYPC meeting venue in Folkestone had previously been trialled but had 
attracted very low attendance.  It was hoped that, with a recruitment drive over 
the summer, better engagement could be achieved when this was tried again 
later in the year

 VSK apprentices were now based in areas across the whole county and were 
establishing themselves as role models and mentors, eg in Thanet, a ‘myth 
buster’ project would seek to dispel the unrealistic expectations that some 
young people may have about leaving care, and emphasise their rights and 
responsibilities as young adults. 

 Social workers were being actively encouraged to attend future activity days.
 Following the success of the residential course at the Kent mountain centre, 

arrangements were being made for a similar week-long course at the Hardelot 
Centre in Northern France, at which young people preparing to leave care 
could experience managing away from home for a week and learn how to 
manage money, prepare meals, etc. The expected cost per person, for a party 
of six young people, was £500, and fundraising would be needed to cover this. 
The Panel was asked for ideas of how funds could be raised. 

2. Some County Council Members said they would like to support young people 
to attend the Hardelot trip and it was suggested that the rules governing the use of 
elected Members’ personal grants be researched to see if such support was possible. 
Members also advised that, as the Hardelot Education Centre was a County Council 
property, it might be possible to negotiate a discount on the use of the centre, 
allowing funds raised to go further in terms of activities.    

3. Mr Doran praised Ms Taylor and Mr Dowle for their work in involving young 
people in the social worker recruitment process, for their drive in fund raising for VSK 
activities and for promoting their role to the wider VSK team. Panel members added 
that they were excellent role models for young care leavers.  

4. Mr Segurola added that his overriding aim was to achieve a level playing field 
in which all children and young people in care could access events which support 



their participation and engagement, and undertook to take forward the issue of 
increasing access for disabled children and young people.

5. RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks

87. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item A8)

1. Mr P J Oakford gave a verbal update on the following issues:-

Visits to Children’s Centres in Tunbridge Wells, Swale and Thanet – One of the 
staff at a centre had described her time there as ‘some of the best days I have at 
work’. An example of the sort of case which centres come across was that of a 19-
year-old woman whom he had met at a centre, who had been put on a train in 
London with her year-old baby and sent to Margate to find accommodation, with no 
other support offered by the placing authority.  He recommended that all members 
visit their local children’s centres to see the excellent support offered there, and 
offered to take other members with him on his regular visits.

Visit to Specialist Children’s Services office in Gravesend – Here he had met 
some UASC care leavers and realised the trauma that many of them had 
experienced before leaving their home countries.  What had become clear, however, 
was the inflated expectations some of them had been given of life in the UK. 

Attended the Early Help Service Design Workshop 

Attended a briefing session about Children’s Centres – this had shown how the 
Early Help team undertook assessments of how well services delivered via Children’s 
Centres were meeting the needs of local families. 

Kent Integrated Children's Services Board (KICSB) special meeting focused on 
child sexual exploitation

Open Day at Demelza House Hospice on 19 June – all elected Members had been 
invited to attend this. 

Housing for Care Leavers – this was being championed by the Leader of the 
County Council, Paul Carter, who was leading multi-agency work to look at the 
feasibility of the County Council building and running homes for use by care leavers. 

Corporate Parenting Select Committee – this committee was currently seeking an 
extension to its timetable to October 2015 to allow more research and the preparation 
of a more challenging report.

2. RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks. 

88. What Foster Care is Like! - presentation 
(Item B1)

1. Ms Taylor and Mr Dowle presented a series of slides which had been 
prepared by a child currently in care to record her experiences of the care system 
and her thoughts about her foster carer. The presentation emphasised the positive 



side to being taken into care and that this in no way meant that a child had done 
anything wrong or that their parents were unfit to look after them. These were both 
common misconceptions, expressed by other children and parents, eg at school, and 
the effect of such views being expressed could be very damaging to a child’s 
confidence and self-image. The positive and supportive personal relationship built up 
between a child and their foster carer was also emphasised, as well as the great 
difference that a good carer could make to a child’s formative years. However, the 
extent of support which foster carers needed was also extensive. Careful and un-
rushed matching of a child and foster carer was important, as was a handover period 
between carers. The difficulties of affording to live independently as a care leaver 
were highlighted, with some young people having to return to parents with whom they 
had a strained relationship as they simply could not manage financially otherwise. A 
young person’s bond with a good foster carer, on the other hand, could continue long 
after leaving care. 

2. Questions and discussion then followed about the issues arising from the 
presentation, and comments made were as follows:- 

a) the presentation could usefully be shown to groups of foster carers, eg at 
Foster Carers’ Association meetings; 

b) some young people leaving care could struggle to afford supported 
lodgings for any length of time, and may have to move back to live with 
their families, even if the relationship between them was not good;

c) the planned tightening of 18 – 21 year olds’ eligibility for housing benefit, 
announced in the Queen’s speech, would not help this situation. Detail of 
the changes had yet to be made clear. Ms Taylor added that, on forms for 
claiming housing benefit,  there had previously been a box to tick so a 
young person could identify themselves as a care leaver, but this option 
was no longer included;

d) some carers had had to convert a family room in their home to use as 
supported accommodation for a young person.  It was not good that some 
had felt forced to do this to manage financially; 

e) the resources put into foster care reduced sharply when a young person 
reached 18. Supported accommodation needed to be better resourced; 

f) some young people were given very short notice of when they would need 
to move out of their care placement, and were poorly prepared for the 
move; 

g) the positive messages in the presentation, about a child and foster carer 
being lucky to be with each other, and a child’s self-esteem being 
increased by being in care, were welcomed.  Although the reasons for 
taking a child from their birth family into care were positive, the process of 
going into care and trying to settle could be traumatic; 

h) Ms Taylor and Mr Dowle were praised as being good advocates for other 
young people coping with the issues of leaving care, and their work 



supported the issues addressed in the County Council’s Sufficiency 
Strategy. The Staying Put policy was currently still embedding; and

i) Mrs Carpenter, Ms Moody and Mr Griffiths were praised for the work they 
undertook as foster carers, whom the County Council was privileged to 
have, and of whom it should be proud. They should be a model for other 
foster carers.

3. RESOLVED that the points set out in the presentation and raised in the 
following discussion be noted, with thanks, especially the Panel’s 
acknowledgement of the excellent role played by the VSK apprentices and 
foster carers in supporting children in care and young people leaving care. 

89. Performance Scorecard for Children in Care 
(Item B2)

1. The Chairman advised the Panel that, since the publication of the meeting 
papers, an updated version of the scorecard had been prepared.  This was tabled 
and would replace the published version on line.   

2. Mr Segurola introduced the report and summarised the key elements of 
performance and the aim of the new-style scorecard which would shortly replace it 
and on which the Panel’s views were being sought.  He and Mr Doran responded to 
comments and questions from the Panel, as follows:-

a) the new format was welcomed as a great improvement on the old, and it 
provided a good reference document for Members; 

b) Mr Segurola was asked for an explanation of some of the recording in the 
new-style scorecard, and it was agreed that a briefing session be arranged 
to introduce Members to the new methods of recording and displaying 
information. He suggested that this be held when the first full quarter’s 
information became available, so that a complete set of data could be 
studied;

c)  Mr Doran explained the work which had gone into identifying what were 
the right indicators to include in the new-style scorecard.  The national 
indicator for attainment would shortly change from the number of children 
achieving A* - C grades in five GCSE subjects to those achieving the same 
grades in eight subjects. He reminded the Panel that children in care were 
disadvantaged by having only one chance to score the required grades, 
due to the disruption cause by changes in placements and schools, often 
close to exam time, as many children tended to enter care at around year 
10. They tended to perform better when they had more than one 
opportunity to attempt and achieve pass grades;

d) a view was expressed that to have good GCSE grades would make all the 
difference to a young person’s CV, and to allow children in care a year 
longer to achieve these would be a great help to them.  However, it was 
important also to bear in mind that, upon entering the employment market, 
they would need to compete with other young people at interview, at which 
they would have only one chance to make an impression. Achieving a 



balance between allowing them an extra chance and applying the same 
rules as to other young people was difficult; and

e) Mr Doran reminded the Panel that Kent had many more children in care 
than other authorities, yet was measured against the same standards with 
regard to their attainment.  

3. RESOLVED that:-

a) the performance data set out on the children in care scorecard, and the 
information given in response to comments and questions, be noted; and

b) the Panel’s initial views on the new-style scorecard be noted, and a briefing 
session be arranged to familiarise Panel members with new styles of 
reporting. This could best be placed when the first full quarter’s information 
was available to study.

90. Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015 - 2018 
(Item B3)

Mr T Wilson, Head of Children’s Strategic Commissioning, was in attendance for this 
item.

1. Mr Wilson introduced the report and responded to comments and questions 
from the Panel, as follows:-

a)  the Strategy provided a good tool by which the County Council  could be 
held to account on its corporate parenting role; 

b) one of the actions in the Strategy was a commitment to report to the 
Corporate Parenting Panel on a six-monthly basis.  A view was expressed 
that the first such report should be made in three months’ time, with six-
monthly reporting thereafter; 

c) the Strategy aimed to reduce the use of independent fostering agencies 
(IFAs), but the County Council had made use of these agencies’ ability to 
meet specialist needs when it was not able to  meet these needs among in-
house foster carers. Asked whether, although use of such agencies had a 
cost, it may be more cost-effective to use IFAs than to try to replicate their 
services in-house,  Mr Segurola confirmed that it cost approximately half as 
much to deliver fostering services in-house.  It could be more effective to 
support in-house foster carers, which were aligned with the children in care 
teams, than it would be to support external carers, although he pointed out 
that there would continue to be a role for external organisations;

d) the foster carers serving on the Panel were asked what issues they had 
identified which impacted on the service they were able to provide. The 
issues identified were:

I. the training budget had been cut dramatically in recent years.  
Kent’s foster carers used to be among the highest skilled in the UK, 
but it was difficult now to access training, eg degree courses. Mr 
Segurola acknowledged that the reduced access to training did not 



support the increasing expectations that the County Council had of 
its foster carers; and

II. the valuable work undertaken by the Corporate Parenting Panel in 
raising the profile of the County Council’s corporate parenting role 
and addressing the issues of children in care was unknown to many 
foster carers and could usefully be reported to them, eg via the 
Foster Carers’ Association. Foster carers often said that they were 
not sent information from the County Council.

e) the County Council had previously organised an annual foster carers 
award ceremony to recognise and celebrate the work they did, but this 
practise had lapsed. Mr Segurola confirmed that he was keen to re-start 
this and other Foster Carers’ Association events which used to take place; 
and

f) a Panel member who had attended the 28 May sports day said he had 
been told there by foster carers that they were not seen as or treated as 
professionals. If this view were widespread amongst foster carers it would 
indicate an obvious place to start in addressing the role and status of 
Kent’s foster carers. 

2. RESOLVED that:- 

a) the content of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 
2015-2018, and the information given in response to comments and 
questions, be noted; and

b) regular monitoring reports be made to the Panel, with an initial follow-up 
report after three months and a programme of six-monthly reports 
thereafter. 

91. The County Council's Corporate Parenting responsibilities towards 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children and care leavers (UASC), and issues 
around their accommodation in the community 
(Item B4)

Ms S Hammond, Assistant Director - West Kent, was in attendance for this item.

1. Ms Hammond introduced the report, which had been prepared at the request 
of the Panel, and responded to comments and questions from Panel members, as 
follows:-

a) in some areas of the county, UASC were grouped together in 
disadvantaged areas and were not integrated into the wider community.  
This did not support young people in learning English. To encourage 
integration and expand their horizons, UASC should be placed more 
carefully. Ms Hammond acknowledged that, where this pattern had been 
identified in an area, the placement of any additional UASC in that area 
would be avoided. However, some UASC asked specifically to be placed in 
an area where they knew there was an established community sharing 
their culture and speaking their language; 



b) accessing English as a Second Language (ESL) courses was also difficult 
in some areas as local provision had been discontinued, forcing young 
people to travel a distance to the nearest college which offered such 
courses; 

c) the range of problems experienced by UASC would vary with their legal 
status and what stage they had reached with their asylum application (eg 
leave to remain (LTR), all rights exhausted (ARE), etc);

d) although the majority of UASC arriving in Kent were aged over 15, some 
were aged 12 to 13.  These had been much helped by being placed with 
foster carers, particularly in learning English, as younger children tended to 
pick up languages more easily.  Efforts were being made to increase the 
number of foster carers able to speak the same languages as UASC and 
most practised in supporting them to learn English.  Ms Hammond clarified 
that the only legislation which applied to children under the age of 18 was 
the Child Care Act, not immigration law, and the Child Care Act was the 
legislation which directed the County Council’s duty of care to any UASC 
under 18, defining their status as children in care;

e) some children aged 13 – 15 were accustomed in their home countries to 
working, and came seeking employment and accommodation rather than 
education and care.  Ms Hammond advised that, regardless of their 
intention in travelling to the UK, if they were under 18, the County Council’s 
duty of care towards them was unchanged; 

f) Mr Oakford reported that, at one of his recent visits to area offices, he had 
been advised that the interpreter service used by the County Council 
received requests to interpret for anything up to 40 different languages; 

g) Mr Segurola advised the Panel that the County Council currently had 400 
UASC in its care – the highest number it had ever had.  Summer was 
traditionally the busiest time for UASC arriving, as long distance travel in 
the summer months was generally easier, although the rate of arrivals had 
been consistently high in recent months, with the 2014/15 winter not 
showing the usual dip in numbers. Home Office funding, however, was 
finite, and the adequacy of funds allocated for 2015 was a cause for grave 
concern;

h) Ofsted had highlighted health issues facing UASC, and mental health 
issues in particular. Taking a health history from a newly-arrived UASC 
speaking little or no English would be difficult enough, but tackling delicate 
questions about their mental health would be doubly difficult.  Ms 
Hammond explained that the County Council would take a health history 
for the period since the young person had arrived in the UK.  Mr Segurola 
added that screening upon arrival would seek to identify pre-existing 
conditions;

i) the age of a UASC with no papers could be difficult to identify, and local 
authorities in France had established the practice of scanning UASC to 
identify their age.  However, the Royal College of Paediatricians had 
advised that this practise should not be followed in the UK; and



j) the importance of the County Council being seen to deal only with proven 
facts about UASC, rather than engage with unsubstantiated media 
coverage and popular myths about  immigration, was emphasised. 

2. After discussion, it was agreed that the wording of the recommendation, ‘that 
the Panel bring to the attention of all Members the Council’s Corporate Parenting 
responsibilities…’, should make particular reference to executive Members, and that 
care be taken to ensure that the approach taken should be consistent. 

3. RESOLVED that:-

a) Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel bring to the attention of all 
Members, in particular executive Members, the Council’s Corporate 
Parenting Responsibilities towards UASC in care and care leavers; 

b) all Members use their influence with District, Borough and City Councils 
to ensure that fair access to social housing is available to UASC, alongside 
other Kent care leavers; and 

c) a further report on the issues covered in this report and in the ensuing 
discussion be made to the Panel in six months’ time. 



By: Mr P J Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 3 September 2015

Subject: Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member 

Classification: Unrestricted

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:-

1. Visits to Children’s Centres in Canterbury and Tonbridge & Malling

2. Kent County Councillors Reception – Demelza House

3. Care Leavers Progression Partnership (CLPP)

4. Kent Adoption Summit 2015

5. Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) Visits & Update





By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services
Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director - Social Care, Health 
and Wellbeing 

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 3 September 2015

Subject:          ADOPTION SERVICE ANNUAL REPORTS  FOR 2014-15

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Division: All

Summary:

Recommendations:

    Attached are Annual Reports for 2014-15 providing information 
    on:

 Improving the Adoption Function in Kent 
 Children’s Adoption Journey 
 Adopters’ Journey 

    Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to  
NOTE the content of the reports

1 Introduction

1.1 As reported to previous meetings of the Corporate Parenting Panel, Coram is 
working in partnership with the County Council to manage the Adoption 
Service. Additional post adoption support services are provided by Action for 
Children.

1.2 Attached for information are reports on:
 Improving the Adoption Function in Kent – Annual Report 2014-15 

(Appendix 1)
 Children’s Adoption Journey – Annual Report 2014-15 (Appendix 2) 
 Adopters’ Journey – Annual Report 2014-15 (Appendix 3)

2. Recommendations

2.1 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the content of 
the reports

Yashi Shah MBE
Interim Head of Adoption Service
Social Care, Health and Wellbeing
03000 413288
Yashi.shah@kent.gov.uk

mailto:Yashi.shah@kent.gov.uk




KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

Coram – Kent County Council Partnership

Annual Report 2014/15

Improving the Adoption Function in Kent

Corporate Parenting Panel, 3 September 2015

Renuka Jeyarajah-Dent, Director of Operations and Deputy CEO at Coram

Robin Lamb, Coram Data Analyst



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

Contents

1. Purpose ..............................................................................................................................................3

2. The National Context ..........................................................................................................................3

3. Local context.......................................................................................................................................3

4. Service Structure ................................................................................................................................4

5. Budget: 2014/2015 .............................................................................................................................4

6. Cost Efficiency ....................................................................................................................................4

7. The Coram/KCC partnership (year 3).................................................................................................4

Children’s Adoption Journey: Successes ...........................................................................................5

Children adopted: ...........................................................................................................................5

Children placed for adoption:..........................................................................................................5

Post Adoption Order Support:.........................................................................................................5

Adopters’ Journey: Successes ...........................................................................................................6

8. Development of the Post Adoption Support Service...........................................................................6

9. Other successes/improvements .........................................................................................................7

9.1 Ascertaining Children’s views: ......................................................................................................7

9.2 Support for birth parents ...............................................................................................................7

9.3 Life Story Book and Later Life Letters ..........................................................................................7

10. Quality Assurance.............................................................................................................................8

10.2.1 Evaluation of Information events .........................................................................................8

10.2.2 Evaluation of Preparation Groups........................................................................................9

10.2.3 Feedback from prospective adopters attending Panel ........................................................9

10.2.4 Feedback from prospective adopters after the Adoption Order (AO) is granted .................9

10.2.5 Complaints and compliments.............................................................................................10

11. Involving adopters in the development of the adoption service ......................................................10

12.1 Social Care Case Work Recording System - Liberi ..................................................................11

13. Priorities 2015/16 - Continuous Improvement ................................................................................11

13.2 Child’s Adoption Journey: .........................................................................................................11

13.2.1 Fostering to Adopt/Concurrency: .......................................................................................11

13.2.2 Timeliness - for a more detailed performance analysis see Appendix 2 ...........................12

13.2.3 A1 Time from entering care to moving in with an adoptive family (adoption scorecard 
target is 14 months) ......................................................................................................................12

13.2.4 A2 Time from the LA receiving court authority to place a child for adoption (PO) to the 
approval of a match with an adoptive family (adoption scorecard target is 4 months) .................12

13.3 Consultation and participation groups for adopted children......................................................13

14. Adopters’ Journey...........................................................................................................................13

14.1 Sufficiency Strategy – future recruitment, timeliness and support for existing approved 
adopters:...........................................................................................................................................13



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

15. Conclusion: .....................................................................................................................................13

Appendix 1 - Ofsted Quality Assurance Questions...............................................................................15

Appendix 2 – Thresholds for the DfE Adoption Scorecard ...................................................................16

1. Purpose
This report serves two functions:

1) As an overview of progress in relation to both the Coram-Kent partnership and its contribution 
to the adoption function within Kent County Council (KCC); and

2) Cover’s Ofsted quality assurance questions (See Appendix1) in relation to the adopter’s 
journey, which have been responded to throughout this report).

This report should be read in conjunction with the children’s and adopters’ journey reports, which 
provides detailed performance analysis on both.

2. The National Context
Government statistics (published in June 2015) indicate there were 2,960 children awaiting an 
adoption placement at 31 December 2014. This is a 37% decrease from 31 March 2014 when there 
were 4680 children waiting. Recent estimate by the DfE suggests that the “adopter gap” has closed, 
resulting in more adopters than children waiting1. 

Central government activity in 2015 to promote adoption for these children has included £19.3 million 
available to English LAs via the Adoption Support Grant; encouraging a national search for adopters 
for hard to place children by reimbursing the costs of the inter-agency fee; promoting statutory and 
voluntary sector partnerships via capacity building in the voluntary sector; and consultation on 
‘regionalisation’ to promote cost-efficiency through ‘hubbing’ expertise (Education and Adoption Bill 
2015-16).

3. Local context
The dramatic and nationally unpredicted down turn in Placement Orders (PO) coupled with the 
partnership’s exceptional success in placing children for adoption has meant that there has been a 
surplus in approved adopters waiting and in turn a moratorium on recruitment of adopters since April 
2015. This decision will be reviewed in September 2015. In anticipation of this and with uncertainty in 
relation to the future shape of the partnership, social work staffing recruitment has been “frozen, to 
maximise efficient use of staffing resources.

4. Service Structure
The Kent Adoption Service is divided into the following teams: One initial enquiries team (shared with 
fostering), Two recruitment and assessment teams (will become 1 team in September 2015), One 
family finding team, One inter-country and non-agency team, One post adoption and special 
guardianship support team and One panel team

Staff recruitment activity has remained consistent throughout the years of the partnership. Despite the 
Head of Adoption Service post commanding a salary of £72k per annum, a final salary pension and 

1 DFE (2015) Adoption Leadership Board headline measures and business intelligence Quarter 3 
2014 to 2015 update



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

relocation expenses of up to £8k, interviews of eight people have not resulted in a permanent 
appointment. However, the current interim Head of Adoption has been in post since the partnership 
began in February 2012 and has provided consistent leadership throughout.

The recruitment of permanent team managers has equally proved challenging despite many efforts to 
recruit in different ways. The position throughout the year has fluctuated but current position is as 
follows: A permanent family finding team manager (from April 2015), an interim recruitment and 
assessment team manager (3 days per week) who is supported by the Head of Adoption in managing 
staff, a long standing interim manager (3 days per week) who manages both the Post Adoption and 
Special Guardianship Support and the Non-Agency and Inter-Country teams (with the inter-country 
team commissioned out in December 2014). This manager is supported by a Principal Social Worker 
who manages all the social work staff in the Non-Agency Team. The Senior Clinical Psychologist who 
was seconded through the Tavistock and Portman NHS Foundation Trust supported the development 
of the Post Adoption Team, and supervised clinical staff in the team. The Psychologist left in March 
2015. The staff are now supervised by a very experienced clinician, commissioned through an 
external agency. The Team Manager continues to supervise social workers in the Post Adoption 
Team. Tavistock are supporting us in replacing the Senior Clinical Psychologist. An experienced 
social worker from the family finding team has been seconded to undertake the panel advisor role. 

5. Budget: 2014/2015
The annual budget was £9,469,400. This consisted of

- Overall budget of £3,432,600
- Special Guardianship Allowances of £3,206,000 
- Adoption Support Allowances of £2,830,800 

The budget for special guardianship and adoption support allowances was transferred to children’s 
social care in October 2014. The overall budget was under spent by £162,878.

6. Cost Efficiency
Coram has devised a methodology, assisted by the Centre for Child and Family Research at 
Loughborough University, to calculate the expenditure that the Council has avoided by partnering with 
Coram to discharge its adoption function. We calculate that the Council has avoided a minimum 
expenditure of £1.6 million on looked after children over the past three years as a result of children 
being adopted earlier. 

In addition, the Post Adoption Support team has been able to access the Adoption Support Fund from 
May 2015 – the partnership is in the unique position of being a provider as well as a commissioner in 
relation to accessing the fund. The fund will support payment of the salaries of some clinicians. To-
date Kent has been allocated £158,514 from the fund.

7. The Coram/KCC partnership (year 3)
The key to success of the partnership has been the multi-professional expertise provided, including 
support from data analysts and Coram’s Policy and Research Team. 

Progress could not have been possible without integrated working with KCC’s children’s social care / 
adoption staff and managers, foster carers, panel chairs and members; health, education and 
judiciary expertise, and the problem solving approach taken by the Director of Specialist Services and 
her replacement, the Corporate Director for Families and Social Care, the Assistant Director’s 
responsible for Children’s Social Care and the previous and current lead cabinet member for children, 
Councillor Jenny Whittle and later Councillor Peter Oakford.

The partnership has been able to evidence the following successes: 



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

Children’s Adoption Journey: Successes

Children adopted:

183 children were adopted in 2014/15. This was 26.2% more than in 2013/14 when 145 children 
were adopted. 

5 of these children had a recorded disability.

34 children were adopted through Non Agency and 11 children were granted a Special 
Guardianship Order (private proceedings)

Children placed for adoption:

Kent set Coram a target to place 140 children for adoption in 2014-15. This was exceeded, with 143 
children placed for adoption.

Our success includes 83 children with complex needs, out of a total of 143 (58%), being placed with 
an adoptive family. 26 were aged five and over, 43 were placed with siblings, five had a disability and 
nine were from BME backgrounds.

Post Adoption Order Support:

133 children received support

- 15 children aged between 0 – 4 years old

- 35 children aged between 5 – 8 years old

- 40 children aged between 9 – 12 years old

- 43 children aged 13 and over

A number of factors have contributed to success in this area. Listed below are examples of actions 
taken: 

 Timely permanency planning meetings at regular intervals chaired by child care Team/Service 
Managers. The purpose is to discuss the planning at the earliest stage, review the adoption 
plan, including placement of siblings together.

 Monthly joint tracking meetings between child care and adoption to monitor the whole of the 
child’s adoption journey (including early family finding) 

 Innovative and creative family finding activities, including the employment of a skilled Film and 
Marketing Officer who produced high quality profiles and DVD’s in a timely way; Adoption 
Activity Days; registering both children and adopters on Adoption Link and the Adoption 
Register (compliance is monitored at the monthly performance surgeries); bi-monthly family 
finding profiling events and pop-up events for adopters; a radio and web campaign for hard to 
place children in summer 2014 for 4 weeks; 

 Inviting key representatives from Adoption Link and the Adoption Register to explain to 
adopters about their service. 

 Supporting adopters in accessing medical advisors expertise prior to making a decision about 
the match.

 Working closely with the judiciary to improve social work practice, systems and timescales – 
examples include agreeing a format for presenting family finding information in the child care 



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

plan statement, criteria for seeking court permission to provide adopters with the relevant 
information as part of the early family finding approach, and monitoring Court scheduling of 
adoption hearings. 

 Close working with health colleagues to improve timescales for both the child’s and adopter’s 
journey 

 Performance surgeries, chaired by the Head of Adoption, are undertaken on a monthly basis 
with Recruitment and Assessment, Family Finding, Non-Agency, Post Adoption and Special 
Guardianship Support and Panel Teams – this allows performance management to be owned 
by staff, as well as managers, and facilitates a problem-solving approach to tackle drift and 
delay. It also ensures achievements are recognised.

 Monthly Joint Tracking Meetings with Children in Care Service and Team Managers – this 
allows to build collaborative working relationships, and joint problem solving approaches. 

 Monthly operational meetings with Children in Care Service and Reviewing Managers, Senior 
Legal representatives and Adoption managers to learn from best practice, research and 
develop practice and policy.

Adopters’ Journey: Successes

Approval rates:

In 2014/15 138 adopters were approved.

This is a 17.4% decrease compared to 2013/14 (167), but higher than 2012/13 (87) and 106% higher 
than 2011/12 (67).

12 non Kent looked after children were placed with Kent approved adopters.

8. Development of the Post Adoption Support Service
A key factor in achieving our successes both for adopters and children has been the development of 
the Post Adoption Support Service in line with the national agenda, which has strengthened the 
reputation of the service.

Our success has been the establishment of a multi-disciplinary team, which provides a timely and 
responsive service to children with complex emotional and mental health needs and their families 
informed by a therapeutic model. 

A Learning and Development Programme was launched in September 2014 following consultation 
with adopters. The programme focused on the emotional and social development of adopted children 
and adolescents and was facilitated by members of the post-adoption team and external speakers 
from the Tavistock & Portman NHS Foundation Trust. Further requests for Saturday and evening 
events have been integrated into the 2015 programme. The 2015 programme has taken into account 
the feedback though the overall feedback has been positive. 

Throughout the year, two parenting programmes (Incredible Years Intensive programme) were run in 
Partnership with Coram - 17 parents attended. Two experienced clinicians and social workers have 
also facilitated formal structured support groups for adopters. In partnership with the Young Lives 
Foundation, the Post Adoption Team has also facilitated activity days for adopted children aged 10 
years and above. So far, seven children have attended a climbing day activity, five attended a trip to 
Thorpe Park, four attended Laser Rush and nine attended bowling. The Social Worker/Family 
Therapist will be leading on young people involvement in the service, co-ordinating activities and 
developing a young people’s advisory board for the next financial year. 



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

9. Other successes/improvements

9.1 Ascertaining Children’s views: 

Both Agency Decision Makers and panel advisors continue to monitor this through the child’s 
permanence report (CPR). Over the last year there have been four workshops to launch the revised 
template for CPR and supporting staff in understanding the long term impact on children in relation to 
the content of CPR.

Children’s Guides have recently been refreshed, and these were launched at the Adoption Summit in 
July 2015. Children in Care Managers are expected to monitor compliance.

9.2 Support for birth parents 

Considerable effort continues to be made to ensure that birth parents are encouraged to access 
support once their child has had a plan of adoption. Parents are informed in writing of the support 
available when the Council informs them of the adoption plan. The support service has been 
outsourced for a number of years. This was previously delivered by Action for Children. In October 
2014, through a tendering process, Barnardos were awarded the new contract. The transition was 
challenging however the service delivered by Barnardos is now fully operational.

The service, known as CAFIS, also provides other services - access to birth records and intermediary 
services for adult adoptees, Intermediary service for birth relatives and access to information, and 
contact services. 

We continue to work in collaboration with the new provider and monitor performance.

9.3 Life Story Book and Later Life Letters

Timescales for both life story book and later life are measured against National Adoption Minimum 
Standards (2.5 – 2.8, July 2014) in the monthly joint tracking meetings with Children in Care Service 
Managers to ensure adopters and children are provided with both essential pieces of work in a timely 
way. Later life letters and life storybooks are quality assured by children in care service managers.

Life Story Book: Should be presented in stages, with the final part provided within 10 working days 
of the adoption ceremony (NMS 2.7). Children who had a celebration hearing between 1 April 2014 
and 31 March 2015 received their life story book on average 58 days before their celebration hearing, 
with the NMS met for 75% of the children.

Latter life Letter: Should be given to the prospective adopter within ten working days of the adoption 
ceremony (NMS 2.8). Children who had a celebration hearing between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 
2015 received their later life letter on average 1.3 days before their celebration hearing, with the NMS 
met for 64% of children.

Monthly performance management has resulted in considerable improvements in complying with the 
National Minimum Standards. Our aim is to further improve our time scales. Therefore, Adoption 
Panels continue to monitor the completion of life story books. Training social workers remains a 
priority. Three training sessions were run during 2014/15, two of which were delivered by BAAF. Six 
Kent adopters, Kent social workers and the Head of Adoption also attended the Coram seminar 
‘Adoption Support and the Importance of Life Story’ in March 2015.The seminar was delivered by a 
multi-disciplinary team and incorporated learning from 2 years’ of research and delivery of post 
adoption support services, including parenting programmes, art and music therapy and life story book 
research. Directions for best practice were offered.



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

We continue to apply learning from research to this work. In 2014 Kent took part in two studies by 
Coram, in collaboration with Bristol University, which aimed to learn about the quality of life story work 
from the perspective of both child and adopter. The project continued into 2014/15 where 
professionals, including from Kent, offered their opinions on life story work as part of a DfE grant-
funded project to increase the availability and quality of post adoption services Staff in Kent provided 
evidence of good quality practice. Issues raised in interviews focused on training, supervision, 
adoptive parents’ understanding of life story work and resources to support the task. We also provide 
seminars for adopters about use of life story and latter life.

The 2015 Adoption Summit focused on presenting this research to a wider audience and adopters as 
speakers presented their views on life story work. Kent will make use of further research and work in 
partnership with Coram to develop this area of work. 

10. Quality Assurance
Practice is quality assured through a number of mechanisms – auditing, monitoring by adoption 
panels, agency decision makers and independent reviewing officers, feedback from adopters, staff 
and managers, complaints and compliments. 

10.1 Auditing: Auditing tools have been revised in conjunction with the Council’s Safeguarding Unit 
to audit both the child’s and adopter’s journey. Feedback from audits has informed practice and 
system improvements - examples include uploading of documents in a timely way, analytical 
recording, transfer of cases, communication with adopters, etc.

10.2 Feedback: We continue to remain committed to ensuring that feedback from adopters is used to 
inform future service development and continuous improvement. Written feedback is sought from 
adopters through information events, preparation groups, adopters’ attending panels and after an 
adoption order has been granted. Coram’s Policy and Research team evaluated all the written 
feedback.

Feedback is reviewed and followed up by the Head of Adoption immediately after every event and 
systematically analysed.

10.2.1 Evaluation of Information events

Feedback was received from 345 prospective adopters who attended 23 information events in 
2014/15, capturing their experiences of first contact with the adoption service and information groups. 
Almost all the sample reported that the information event had met their expectations. Extremely 
positive feedback was received about the Adoption Initial Enquiries Advisers Team; KCC staff at the 
information events; the venue and the quality of information - especially information delivered by 
managers and adopters who were able to draw upon their real-life experiences. One respondent 
commented: “It was an exceptionally helpful event and I was very impressed by the presenter” 
(Ditton Community Centre, April).

10.2.2 Evaluation of Preparation Groups

Feedback from 285 prospective adopters who attended 12 two-day preparation groups and eight one-
day preparation groups between May 2014 and March 2015 was analysed. Evaluation indicated 
positive appraisal of content provided by an adoptee, adopters, foster carer, medical adviser, and 
from both the adoption and birth family (contact) aligned services. In particular, respondents valued 
meeting other prospective adopters; the facilitation of the course; the variety of speakers and practical 
style of the course. As with last year, 99% of respondents indicated this aim was ‘mostly’ or 
‘extremely’ met. One respondent commented: “I feel more equipped to take on children with 
needs and categories that I hadn't felt confident about before - we would like to review our 
matching considerations form as a result” (Aylesham, December 2014). 



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

Minor areas highlighted for improvement such as the medical presentation; pre-course information; 
increased male perspective and travel time. 

10.2.3 Feedback from prospective adopters attending Panel

All the forms for adoption panel chairs and Agency Decision Makers to provide feedback were 
refreshed allowing more scrutiny of time scales. 

Feedback from 272 respondents who attended a panel in 2014/15 was analysed. 98% reported that 
their experience of panel was ‘excellent’ or ‘good’, compared to 62% in the previous year. Prospective 
adopters found the panel to be knowledgeable, professional and friendly. Applicants were positive 
about preparation for panel, in particular support received from social workers. Of panel, one 
respondent said: “They were friendly, open and empathetic to us and our wants. Made us feel 
welcome and at ease from the start” (Prospective adopter, North Panel, September 2014). 
Minor areas for improvement related to delays on the day and privacy of certain venues, though this 
did not negatively impact the overall experience for the majority of applicants. 

10.2.4 Feedback from prospective adopters after the Adoption Order (AO) is granted

Since July 2014, KCC has sought feedback from adopters after their Adoption Order has been 
granted in an effort to receive honest feedback. The feedback has to be seen within the context of 
historical delays and an improving service.

80% reported that they were ‘very’ or ‘quite’ satisfied with the service. One respondent said: “Very 
good service and very thorough! Will definitely be looking at adopting another child further in 
the future”. This was largely contingent on the relationship built with social workers. While most 
respondents (76%) thought the time taken between placement and approval was ‘about right’, fewer 
indicated this was the case between application and approval (56%). Adopters were positive about 
the preparation and information they received from the KCC Adoption Initial Enquiries Team, the 
information and preparation groups, at assessment and during the matching process. 

Key areas highlighted for improvement were: continuity and consistency of social workers; 
administration and communication errors; the matching process for a minority of respondents; post 
adoption support and communication and the time taken between application and approval. 
Correspondingly, much time has been spent in the 2014/15 reviewing the matching process and post 
adoption support in response to feedback. 

All the areas of improvement across the adoption function provided through the different feedback 
mechanisms have been addressed as a result of the Head of Service diligently reviewing feedback 
immediately including phoning and writing to every adopter who provided feedback after the adoption 
order had been granted. 

Feedback received is shared with staff to improve practice across all levels of the organisation. This 
has enabled social workers, managers and administrators to reflect on the processes and how they 
could improve to benefit both children and adopters. A powerful example of this included an adopter 
providing a balanced view of her journey at a service meeting.

10.2.5 Complaints and compliments

Both complaints and compliments provide a helpful insight into future improvements. There were 
three complaints under the Children Act – one was not upheld, one partially upheld and one fully 
upheld. The complaints related to withdrawal of an adoption allowance, contact and information about 
the birth family being shared inappropriately. In addition there were seven corporate complaints, five 
were not upheld and two were partially upheld. The issues ranged from adopters being unhappy 
about the process, the way they were treated, and treatment of a birth mother.



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

The service also received eight compliments – related mainly to the support provided to adopters and 
children.

As the complaints relate to the adoption function rather than adoption service, we continue to make 
improvements with child care colleagues. Our improvements include: joint visiting between adoption 
and child care social workers to support adopters in managing legal challenges in a thoughtful and 
sensitive way, face to face handover at the point of a change of a social worker, improved customer 
care – in particular appreciating the painful process of adoption.

11. Involving adopters in the development of the adoption service 
Adopters are involved in the routine delivery of high quality service through linking, matching, 
introduction and review planning processes. Examples include:

 Internal and external family finding events including adoption activity days
 Sharing relevant information with adopters in a timely way (e.g. child’s permanence report, 

expert reports and DVDs)
 Early viewing with careful planning 
 Adopters are able to see a medical advisor and other stakeholders before a matching meeting 

to gain more knowledge about the children concerned and proceeding with the match
 Peer support from other adopters, where appropriate, through a buddying scheme
 Introduction planning (including provision of the adoption support plan)
 Encouraged to meet with birth parents

Adopters as critical friends are also involved in developing the service through the highly successful 
Adoption Advisory Board, which meets four times a year. Examples include: development of the 
learning and development and preparation programme, website design, the summer and Christmas 
parties for adopters and children. Adopters contribute to our preparation group training, life story work 
training, annual adoption summit etc. This provides an opportunity for the adopters to offer insight into 
the future development of the agency and celebrate the achievements. This ensures the voice and 
experience of adopters is heard on as many levels of the agency. 

12. Involving staff in the development of the service

Regular involvement of staff, managers, independent reviewing officers and other stakeholders also 
informs Service development across the adoption function. Examples include:

 Weekly team and monthly service meetings – adopters and a wide range of speakers are 
invited to the latter.

 Collaborative working across the function – refreshing of the children’s guides, facilitation of 
an approved and adopters waiting group by a child psychotherapist and a senior social 
worker, development of a mentoring scheme for adopters, facilitation of a reflective learning 
group for adoption staff by a child psychotherapist, internal movement of staff, coaching 
available for staff through Kent, senior social workers mentoring new staff.

 Involvement in research - Social workers, in conjunction with adopters, provided consultation 
on Trove, a memory box that can record an adopted child’s story with an object – a by-
product of the research on life story work by Coram and Bristol University that hopes to 
revolutionise life story work. 



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

12.1 Social Care Case Work Recording System - Liberi 

The Council introduced a new case recording system for adoption in December 2013. All the staff in 
the service now use this new system. As it was not totally compatible with the new recruitment and 
assessment processes introduced by the Government in July 2013, it was upgraded in December 
2014 to address this issue. As of April 2015 the system allows all the documents to be uploaded - 
thereby not necessitating two recording systems to be used for new cases (paper as well as 
electronic). Implementation of the system has been challenging against a backdrop of high demand, 
two recording systems, and staff in the service not used to electronic systems. 

13. Priorities 2015/16 - Continuous Improvement 
13.1 Recruitment of the Leadership Team: Despite every effort, recruitment remains a challenge 
and we are mindful that permanent managers are essential to sustaining the considerable 
improvements that have been made over the past three years. This challenge needs to be seen within 
the wider context of the Council, where recruitment of managers remains a challenge. Therefore 
recruitment of the leadership team will remain a priority – timescales may be affected by the 
transitional arrangements beyond January 2016. 

13.2 Child’s Adoption Journey: 

13.2.1 Fostering to Adopt/Concurrency: 

We have taken a number of steps to strengthen our approach. These include:

 A seminar with approved adopters and waiting with an experienced speaker from Coram – 
this has resulted in a few adopters expressing interest in progressing their approval.

 A full day seminar with the relevant child care and other stakeholders in Kent with an 
experienced manager from Cambridgeshire as the main speaker - Cambridgeshire has had 
huge success in placing children on fostering to adopt/concurrency basis.

 A full day event with Cambridgeshire which included health, CAFCASS and other 
stakeholders to share best practice including a Cambridgeshire Foster to Adopt adopter 
providing a very helpful insight into their experience

 Setting up specific preparation group training with those adopters who have expressed an 
interest with Coram 

 Consultation to staff and managers with a Coram Associate
 Work with the judiciary to strengthen their understanding 
 Consideration at the earliest opportunity for children under the age of two years where 

adoption is a possibility 

13.2.2 Timeliness - for a more detailed performance analysis see Appendix 2

Our absolute priority remains to improve timeliness for children with an adoption plan and time scales 
in relation to the adopter’s journey, measured through National Minimum Standards, the Adoption 
Scorecard and our own internal standards. This report addresses the scorecard, but National 
Minimum Standards and our internal standards are addressed in the children’s and adopters’ journey 
report.

The DfE introduced Adoption Scorecards in 2011 as part of a new approach to address delays in the 
adoption system. The thresholds are set by the DFE and are decreasing every year. Scorecards 
evidence a local authority’s average performance in relation to children adopted in the reporting 
period over the preceding three-year period against a number of measures. This allows local 



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

authorities to monitor their own performance and compare it with that of others including statistical 
neighbours and England. 

The most recent scorecard covered the period from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2014 - data for 2012-
2015 is expected to be published in December 2015. The two key measures in the Scorecard are:

13.2.3 A1 Time from entering care to moving in with an adoptive family (adoption scorecard 
target is 14 months)

The average time that children adopted in 2014/15 waited to be placed was 17.5 months from 
entering care. This has improved from 21.4 months in 2013/14 and 23.6 months in 2012/13, but is still 
above the target of 14 months set for 2013 - 2016.

It is encouraging that in the last year, Court timescales have significantly improved which will support 
delivery of timescales in relation to the above threshold. 

13.2.4 A2 Time from the LA receiving court authority to place a child for adoption (PO) to the 
approval of a match with an adoptive family (adoption scorecard target is 4 months)

Our annual performance against this measure has been improving, from 8 months in 2012/13 to 7.4 
months in 2013/14 and 6.8 months in 2014/15. This is still above the 4-month target set for 2013 - 
2016.

Our aim is to meet the 4-month timescale for children granted a PO since 1 April 2013 and we have 

set challenging internal timescales and strengthened our performance management

 A social worker should visit a family within five working days of the family being shortlisted as 

a potential match for a child;

 The matching meeting (where a family is selected to be presented to panel) should take place 

within ten working days of the family being visited;

 The match should be presented to panel within 15 working days of the matching meeting.

 Family Finding Team Manager tracks performance through a weekly tracking meeting

 Weekly linking meeting to ensure prompt short listing of families, led by team managers

It is important to note that even with significant improvements to the whole process, meeting the 
reduced timescales will continue to remain challenging due to historical performance and the 
unpredictability of the matching process particularly for hard to place children. 

Both Kent and Coram are of the view that a good corporate parent has to balance meeting the 
timescales and keeping the individual child’s best interest in mind and make every effort to find a 
family, even though the authority may not always meet the adoption scorecard timescales. Kent and 
Coram, whilst recognising the importance of the scorecard, have not allowed children’s best interests 
to be overridden by this very blunt approach. 

13.3 Consultation and participation groups for adopted children 

Kent adoptees will join the ‘Adoptables’ (a project run by Coram) - peer network of adopted young 
people that enables them to express views about their experiences as adopted children at home, in 
school and in post adoption support. As stated earlier, the post adoption team will lead on developing 
groups for adopted children.



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

14. Adopters’ Journey

14.1 Sufficiency Strategy – future recruitment, timeliness and support for existing approved 
adopters:

We will continue to improve timeliness through robust performance management and work with health 
colleagues to streamline the medical process minimising the current delays.

We will continue to monitor our sufficiency strategy thereby allowing sufficient time to recruit adopters. 
In the interim our priority remains to support our approved and waiting adopters to become adoptive 
parents through support groups, individual consultation and maximising searches through adoption 
link, register and other adoption agencies.

A mentoring scheme will be piloted in autumn 2015 with adopters who have taken on the parenting of 
hard to place children.

We will continue to develop the post adoption support and make full use of the adoption support fund. 

15. Conclusion: 
As this report illustrates considerable improvements have been achieved against a background of 
management challenges. 

There is no doubt that the continued substantial rise in children placed for adoption and adopted, and 
the number of adopters approved is in large part due to the efforts of individual champions working 
within a robust performance management framework supported by data and tracking mechanisms 
that allow for problem solving not only in aggregate but also at the level of the individual child.

The successes evidenced in this report are not only to the partnership but also integrated working 
across the teams within Kent and with other multi-professional bodies/individuals across the county – 
including the courts and the NHS – and the increased confidence from the public about receiving 
good customer care in relation to adoption from the Council.

We would also like to take this opportunity to thank all the staff, managers, elected members, 
adopters and foster carers for their contribution to improving outcomes for children in Kent.

Renuka Jeyarajah-Dent, Director of Operations, Coram

Robin Lamb, Coram Analyst

14.8.2015

. 



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

Appendix 1 - Ofsted Quality Assurance Questions

 How do you ensure that adoptive placements that will meet children’s needs are provided?
 How do you ensure that the adoption agency contributes to promoting good outcomes for 

children and young people?
 How does recruitment, assessment, training and supervision of adopters promote positive 

outcomes for children and young people?
 How do you involve adopters in matching and linking and subsequent planning?
 How do you involve adopters in the development of your agency?
 What do adopters say about your agency?
 How do you involve staff in the development of your agency?
 What plans for improvement and development are currently in place?



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

Appendix 2 – Thresholds for the DfE Adoption Scorecard
The Department has set thresholds for two indicators:

A1 Time from BLA to moving in with adoptive family 

Table 1: Adoption Scorecard performance, measure A1

2009 – 2012 2010 – 2013 2011 – 2014 2012 – 2015 2013 – 2016
Threshold 726 days 608 days 547 days 486 days 426 days
Kent 683 days 703 days 680 days 617 days (est) n/a
Stat 
neighbours

651 days 647 days 654 days n/a n/a

England 636 days 647 days 628 days n/a n/a

This shows that the authority’s performance is improving but still exceeding the thresholds set. This is 

largely due to the fact that 34% of the children placed in 2012/13 and 2013/14 had been in care since 

before 2011/12, and a further 36% had been taken into care in 2011/12. Looking at performance for 

children adopted by financial years there have been improvements: from 718 days (23.6 months) in 

2012/13 to 650 days (21.4 months) in 2013/14 and 531 days (17.5 months) in 2014/15. In 

comparison, the national average for children adopted between 1 April and 31 December 2014 (as 

per ALB data published on 25 June 2015) was 534 days.

The time taken historically to grant placement orders directly impacts on performance against this 

measure – for example children adopted in 2011-2014 waited an average of 453 days (15 months) 

between entering care and their placement order being granted. This fell to 317.4 days (10.4 months) 

for children adopted this year. For example, for one child adopted this year the PO was granted in 

2011, nearly 4 years after they entered care, they were placed for adoption in 2012/13 but this 

placement broke down and they were eventually placed with another family in 2014/15 – excluding 

this case from the average would mean the performance would be 519 days.

As a result of historical performance it is all but impossible for us to meet the 426-day threshold set for 

2013-2016 so we have set ourselves a target of meeting the 426-day (14-month) threshold for 

children granted a PO since 1 April 2013. 



KCC/Coram Adoption Partnership

A2 Time from PO to approval by ADM of a match with adoptive family 

Table 2:

2009 – 2012 2010 – 2013 2011 – 2014 2012 – 2015 2013 – 2016
Threshold None 182 days 151 days 121 days 121 days
Kent 176 days 210 days 223 days 222 days (est) n/a
Stat 
neighbours

192 days 205 days 221 days n/a n/a

England 195 days 210 days 217 days n/a n/a

Again the performance is affected by the large number of children who were not placed with adoptive 

families before 2012/13, which also means that we will not be able to meet the threshold set for 2013-

2016. Figure 2 shows the performance of each district for children matched this year against this 

measure.

Our annual performance against this measure, based on children adopted, has been improving, from 

243 days (8 months) in 2012/13 to 224 days (7.4 months) in 2013/14 and 208 days (6.8 months) in 

2014/15. In comparison, the national average for children adopted between 1 April and 31 December 

2014 (as per ALB data published on 25 June 2015) was 233 days (7.7 months).

Our extensive family finding meant that by 31 March 2015 we had managed to place 60 of the 79 

children granted a PO this year, taking an average of 74.4 days (2.5 months) to match them with a 

family after the PO was granted; and meaning they were in care for an average of 309 days (10 

months).

Our aim is to meet the 121-day (4-month) timescale for children granted a PO since 1 April 2013 So 

far for children granted a PO and matched since 1 April 2013, the average time taken has been 156 

days.



 

 

 

 

 

Corporate Parenting Panel 

3 September 2015 

Annual Report: Children’s adoption journey  

Annual Report 2014/15 

Kent County Council and Coram partnership 

 

Yashi Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service 

Kevin Yong, Coram, Head of Consultancy 



Contents 

Contents .......................................................................................................... 2 

Summary Statistics ........................................................................................... 3 

1 Introduction............................................................................................... 4 

2 Child’s adoption journey .............................................................................. 4 

 Children adopted ............................................................................... 4 2.1

 Children currently placed for adoption, not yet adopted .......................... 7 2.2

 Children placed for adoption ............................................................... 7 2.3

 Matches .......................................................................................... 10 2.4

 Placement and match breakdowns ..................................................... 10 2.5

 Placement Orders ............................................................................ 10 2.6

 Children waiting for adoptive placements ............................................ 13 2.7

 Adoption activity days ....................................................................... 14 2.8

 Early Family Finding......................................................................... 15 2.9

 Children with a plan that has changed ................................................ 16 2.10

 Revocation of Placement Orders ........................................................ 17 2.11

 Children in care proceedings with an Agency Decision for adoption ........ 17 2.12

 Children who had an Agency Decision for adoption............................... 17 2.13

 Non-agency ..................................................................................... 19 2.14

 Post Adoption Order support.............................................................. 19 2.15

3 Timescale analysis ................................................................................... 20 

4 Conclusion: ............................................................................................. 22 

 



Summary Statistics 

 182 children were adopted in 2014/15, 25.5% more than in 2013/14 (145). 

 On 31 March 2015, 78 children were placed for adoption but not yet adopted. 

 143 children were placed with an adoptive family in 2014/15, 15.9% less than in 

2013/14 (170). 

 9 children were placed with adopters from other local authorities, including 1 

child with a consortium adopter; and 3 were placed with voluntary adoption 

agency adopters. A further 17 children were placed with foster carers, 1 with a 

relative, 1 under Foster2Adopt and 7 with repeat adopters. 4 more children could 

have been placed if the legal appeal decisions had been made in a timely manner. 

 79 children were granted a Placement Order in 2014/15, a 51.8% decrease on 

the number of Placement Orders granted in 2013/14 (164). 

 We are still actively family finding for 2 children who were waiting to be placed at 

the end of March. Both children are White, have complex disabilities and were 

born in 2013. 

 An Adoption Activity Day was held on 29 September 2014, with 19 children 

featured. 14 children had an expression of interest raised from the day and 8 were 

matched as a result, including 3 sibling groups of 2 children. 4 of these have 

since been placed with their matched adopters. 

 34 children’s plans were changed from adoption in 2014/15: 10 to permanent 

foster care, 8 have returned to birth family, 6 to SGO, 5 under Supervision Orders, 

3 sent home under Care Orders and 2 to rehabilitation with birth parent. 

 The Agency Decision Maker agreed the plan for adoption for 93 children in 

2014/15, 48% lower than last year (179). For one child the plan had to be agreed 

twice as they were initially relinquished but the birth father later withdrew his 

consent. 

 On 31 March 2015, 30 children were in care proceedings with an agency decision 

for adoption but had no Placement Order.  

 



1 Introduction 

This is an annual report that sets out a detailed analysis of the performance of the 

Council in relation to children’s adoption journeys between 1 April 2014 and 31 

March 2015. A report detailing the Council’s performance in relation to the adopters’ 

journey is attached separately. 

This report contains performance data and achievements, with the data used in this 

report sourced from information provided by the Management Information Unit (MIU), 

the Legal Team, Panel Team and from tracking meetings and performance surgeries.  

This report contains the following information on the children: 

 Timescale analysis  

 Children adopted from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2015 (MIU validated) 

 Children currently placed for adoption, who are not yet adopted 

 Children placed for adoption from 1 April 2011 to 30 March 2015 (MIU 

validated) 

 Children Matched with a family 

 Placement Orders granted from 1 April 2011 to 30 March 2015 (MIU 

validated) 

 Children waiting at the end of March 2015: timescales, ethnicity, sibling 

status, age profile, developmental and health needs 

 Children with a plan that has changed between 1 April 2014 to 31 March 

2015 

 Children in court proceedings with a Plan for Adoption 

2 Child’s adoption journey 

 Children adopted 2.1

Between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 182 children were adopted in Kent 

County Council, which is 25.5% higher than in 2013/14 (145). 5 of these children 

had a recorded disability according to data provided by MIU from Liberi. 



Figure 1 shows the number of children adopted by month and Figure 2 for the 

number of children adopted by district and within 6 months of placement. 

Figure 1 

 

Figure 2 

 

N=182 

15% (28) of the children adopted were aged 5 and over, compared with 13% of the 

children adopted between 1 April and 31 December 2014 in England1. 

                                        
1 As reported by the Adoption Leadership Board https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/adoption-

leadership-board-quarterly-data-reports 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of children adopted each month

2012/13 (n=105) 2013/14 (n=145) 2014/15 (n=182)

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Number of AOs granted this year by district

Within 6 months of placement More than 6 months after placement



7% (12) of the children were BME, compared with 15% nationally; 3% were disabled 

the same as the national proportion; and 34% were part of a sibling group, again the 

same as the national proportion1. 

The children not yet adopted continue to be tracked through a number of 

mechanisms – monthly supervision, performance surgeries and joint tracking 

meetings; and by reviewing officers. A timescales analysis indicates that the robust 

performance monitoring continues to impact on the overall timescales: of the 182 

children adopted between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 41.8% were adopted 

within 6 months of the adoptive placement, compared to 37.2% in 2013/14, 30.4% 

in 2012/13 and 18.6% in 2011/12. Figure 3 shows the average time by district from 

placement to AO for AOs granted this financial year. 

Figure 3 

 

Our analysis indicates that it is taking an average of three months for an adoption 

order to be granted after an application is submitted. The longest case this year took 

297 days, with the case ending up in the High Court. The shortest took 32 days.  The 

courts are now also allowing a further three weeks before sealing the orders to give 

birth parents the chance to appeal in some cases. 

4.7

3.6
2.8

4.6

6.7 6.4
6.9

7.4 7.6
8.0

7.0
6.3

8.2 8.0

6.4

9.3

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Average months from Placement to AO by district

Less than 6 months More than 6 months



 Children currently placed for adoption, not yet adopted 2.2

On 31 March 2015, 79 children were placed with an adoptive family but not yet 

adopted. 52 of these children had been in placement for less than 6 months; 

applications for Adoption Orders have been submitted to court for 27 children. See 

Figure 4 for number of children currently placed for adoption, by district and time 

since placement. 

Figure 4 

  

21 (26.6%) had been waiting 1 month or less since placement, 22 (27.8%) had 

been waiting 2-4 months, 9 (11.4%) had been waiting for 4-6 months, 23 (29.1%) 

were waiting 6-12 months; and 4 children (5.1%) had been placed for more than one 

year, with the application submitted for 1 of these children. 

 Children placed for adoption 2.3

Between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 143 children were placed with an 

adoptive family, 15.9% less than in 2013/14 (170). The fall is due to a reduction in 

the number of children granted a placement order this year. Figure 5 shows the 

number of children placed for adoption by district, Figure 6 gives a breakdown by age 

when placed and Figure 7 shows the split of placement types for children not placed 

with a first-time adopter. 

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20

Number of children placed not yet adopted by district

More than 6 months since placement (27)

Less than 6 months since placement (52)



Figure 5 

 

N=143 

Figure 6 

 

N=143 

0

5

10

15

20

25

Number of placements this year by district

61
56

26

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

One and under Two-four Five and over

Number of children by age at placement this year



Figure 7 

 

90 children were placed on their own and 53 children were placed with siblings – 47 

children in sibling groups of two (one child was placed with a sibling who had been 

placed in 2013/14) and 6 children in 2 sibling groups of 3. 5 of the children had a 

recorded disability according to data provided by MIU from Liberi. 

Children who meet one or more of the following criteria are considered as harder to 

place: 

- Children who have been waiting for 18 months or more at the time of 

placement 

- Children who are aged five or over at the time of placement  

- Children who are in a sibling group of two or more and placed as siblings at the 

time of placement  

- Children who are from a BME background  

- Children who are disabled 

83 of the 143 (58%) children placed fell into one of these categories, demonstrating 

the challenge that the Service has faced in finding adoptive families. 

7

17

0
1 1

8

3
1

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Number of children placed by destination



 Matches 2.4

In 2014/15, 145 children were matched with an adoptive family, including 23 

sibling groups of 2 and 2 sets of 3 siblings. This is 15.7% lower than in 2013/14 

(172). Figure 8 shows the number of children matched each month. 

Figure 8 

 

This includes three children who have not been placed due to challenges to the 

placement orders. A further two children would have been matched but for one the 

ADM deferred their decision in line with legal advice (due to a legal appeal) and the 

other child has not been presented to panel as a result of a legal challenge to the PO. 

 Placement and match breakdowns 2.5

A placement of two siblings, who had been placed this year, broke down this year and 

the birth parents are currently being assessed. Another placement of two siblings, 

placed in 2013/14, as broke down this year and the plan for them is now permanent 

fostering. 

 Placement Orders 2.6

Between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015, 79 Placement Orders were granted to 

children in Kent. This is 51.8% lower than in 2013/14 (164), a fall that mirrors the 

situation nationally – figures recently published by the Adoption Leadership Board 

0

5

10

15

20

25

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of children matched each month

2012/13 (n=134) 2013/14 (n=172) 2014/15 (n=145)



show a 49% fall in placement orders from the first quarter of 2014/15 (760) 

compared with the first quarter of 2013/14 (1500). Figure 9 shows the number of 

Placement Orders granted each month since 1 April 2012 and Figure 10 shows the 

number of children granted Placement Orders this year by district. 

Figure 9 

 

Figure 10 

 

Maidstone had a higher number of POs granted this year (16) than last year (10), the 

only district to see an increase. 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of placement orders granted each month

2012/13 (n=190) 2013/14 (n=164) 2014/15 (n=79)

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

Number of POs this year by district



65.8% (52) of the children granted Placement Orders were one or under when they 

were granted a Placement Order a higher proportion than in previous years; 25.3% 

(20) were aged between 2 and 4; and 8.9% (7) were aged 5 or over. Figure 11 shows 

the change in the distribution of ages since 2012/13 while Figure 12 shows the 

numbers of children by their age when the PO was granted. 

Figure 11 

 

Figure 12  

 

2012/13 N=190, 2013/14 N=164, 2014/15 N=79 

50.5%

36.8%

12.6%

51.2%

37.2%

11.6%

65.8%

25.3%

8.9%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

One and under Two-four Five and over

Proportion of children granted a PO by age

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

96

70

24

84

61

19

52

20

7

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

One and under Two-four Five and over

Number of children granted a PO by age

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15



Of the 79 children granted a Placement Order (PO), 91.1% were White (70 White 

British; 2 children from other White backgrounds). The remaining 8.9% were of 

mixed ethnic backgrounds (4 mixed White / Black Caribbean and 2 of other mixed 

background). 3 children had a recorded disability. 

The average time to secure these 79 POs from when the children entered care was 7 

months, which has meant these children have a higher chance of spending less than 

14 months in care before moving in with an adoptive family. Only three districts took 

longer than 9 months on average to secure a PO: 

- Adoption & SG had one child who was originally relinquished but a birth parent 

later withdrew their consent so the PO had to be applied for – it was granted 

10.5 months after the child was taken into care; 

- Disability WK had one child who was granted a PO 20 months after entering 

care – the court originally only granted a care order and legal advice had to be 

sought as the birth family would only agree to the PO if the child’s foster 

carers adopted the child; 

- Dartford’s average was nearly 11 months as a result of one child for whom the 

ADM BI decision was made 16 months after they were taken into care – the 

PO was granted within a month of the BI decision. 

 Children waiting for adoptive placements 2.7

On 31 March 2015, 32 children in Kent County Council’s care were waiting to be 

placed with an adoptive family2. Children ‘waiting’ includes children who are going 

through the process of being matched or are ‘linked’ with a family. 

Of these 32 children, active family finding is still ongoing for 2 (6.3%), while 17 

have been placed, 1 has had matches approved and 3 have matches that will be 

presented to panel. For 2 siblings family finding is on hold as they are in a 

therapeutic foster care placement and another 2 siblings were in an adoptive 

placement that broke down this year and the birth parents have been assessed 

                                        
2 This figure includes children with a Placement Order and a Plan for Adoption, or parallel plan where 

one of the plans is adoption. The figure also includes relinquished children with an Agency Decision 

for Adoption. 



positively so the children will be returning home. For 7 children the plan has now 

changed from adoption. 

For the 2 children with active family finding: 

 both are boys, White British and being placed as single children 

 Both have disabilities and complex health issues 

 Both were born in 2013 

 1 had a PO granted in January 2015, the other in October 2013. For the 

latter, there is difficulty in finding a family as they have various disabilities, 

developmental delay and health issues and their foster carer is considering 

adopting them. 

 Adoption activity days 2.8

Adoption Activity Days are child-themed events where approved adopters and 

adopters in the assessment process who have an identified panel date have the 

opportunity to directly meet a range of children waiting to be adopted in a prepared, 

supported, safe and fun environment. It is an innovative method of family finding 

with an opportunity for families to respond directly to children and make a personal 

connection with them. 

Kent held its second Adoption Activity Day (AAD) on 29 September 2014. 19 

children and 27 prospective adoptive families attended, including 5 from other 

agencies. 14 children (73.7%) had an expression of interest raised on the day (9 

girls, 5 boys; 4 sibling groups of 2 children) and 8 (42.1%) were matched as a result, 

including 3 sibling groups of 2 children. This considerably exceeds the average 

number of matches made the first five pilot Adoption Activity Days (19%). We are 

currently organising an Activity Day specifically for children with disabilities for later 

this year. 

Of the children matched as a result of the AAD: 



 A sibling group made up of 2 White British girls aged 5 and 2, with one child 

having an unconfirmed health issue. Their POs were granted in June 2013 and 

they were placed in January 2015; 

 1 is a single White British boy aged 3 with confirmed developmental delay and 

health issues whose PO was granted in November 2011, and he was placed in 

February 2015;  

 1 child is a White and Black Carribean boy aged 4 whose PO was granted in 

April 2014, and he was placed in December 2014; 

 One sibling group is made up of two White British girls aged 8 and 6 whose 

POs were granted in November 2013. The match was not progressed as the 

plan for these girls subsequently changed to permanent fostering; 

 One sibling group is made of two White British twin boys, both with 

attachment difficulties, who are aged 5. Their foster carers were assessed after 

they realised at the AAD that they did not want the boys to live with anyone 

else and the children were placed for adoption in February 2015. 

 Early Family Finding 2.9

We are now undertaking more early family finding for children who are expected to be 

granted a placement order. There are limits to what we can do legally in terms of 

family finding – for example a child should be referred to the Adoption Register as 

soon as possible and no later than 3 months from the Best Interest decision, so long 

as there is an interim care order in place and the court has given its permission. We 

are now actively identifying children for whom we should be seeking court’s 

permission to share information with prospective adopters at the earliest opportunity. 

This approach has been agreed with the judiciary and means we can finalise a match 

as soon as possible after the placement order is granted. We are now visiting 

prospective adopters as soon as possible after the best interest decision, to share non-

identifying information of children waiting, except where we have permission from the 

court. 

We have set up weekly linking meetings overseen by management, who review all 

children waiting with an ADM best interest decision and identify all the suitable 

approved adopters.  This list is sent to the family finding social worker, who will 



review the adopters’ PARs in detail to identify up to two households for the child’s 

social worker to consider for the match.  This process is tracked weekly and 

everything is done to ensure links are identified for children prior to POs being 

granted.  This process also identifies if early family finding permission is needed and 

if the child will need to be profiled nationally. 

As of 31 March 2015 we had 46 children in early family finding, 17 of whom have an 

Agency Decision for adoption but no placement order yet. Figure 13 shows the 

distribution of these children by age. 

Figure 13  

 

24 of the children are boys, 21 are girls. All are single children. 40 were White 

British, 4 of other White ethnicities; 1 was White and Black African; and 1 was of 

other mixed ethnicity. 9 are due to have a final hearing before the end of June. 

 Children with a plan that has changed 2.10

Between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015, 34 children’s plans were changed from 

adoption, 10 to permanent foster care, 8 have returned to birth family, 6 to SGO, 5 

under Supervision Orders, 3 sent home under Care Orders and 2 to rehabilitation with 

birth parent. 

1

25

12

5
3

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Not born 1 or under 2 to 4 5 to 8 8 and over

Number of children by age (early family finding)



   Revocation of Placement Orders 2.11

Revocations are now tracked at the jointly tracking meeting between child care and 

adoption. MIU have now started reporting on revocations of placement orders – as of 

8 August 2015, 21 POs need to be revoked. 

 Children in care proceedings with an Agency Decision for adoption 2.12

17 children were in the Court process on 31 March 2015, where the Agency Decision 

Maker had agreed a plan for adoption but a Placement Order had not yet been 

granted.  

13 had been waiting less than two months since the ADM best interest decision, 2 

children had been waiting 2 to 4 months, and 2 for more than 6 months. 

Of the 2 children waiting 6 months and over: 

 One child has a Care Order but no Placement Order.  

 One child does not have a Final Hearing date as a sibling has been born and 

the plan is being reviewed. 

 Children who had an Agency Decision for adoption 2.13

93 children had an Agency Decision for adoption plan agreed between 1 April 2014 

and 31 March 2015. This is 48% lower than in the same period in 2013/14 (179). 

This is similar to the national picture, where there was a fall of 46.4% between the 

first quarter of 2013/14 and the first quarter of 2014/15. Figure 14 shows the 

number of adoption plans approved each month. 



Figure 14 

 

Figure 15 shows the split of ADM decisions for adoption by district and the number of 

decisions that were made within 6 months of entering care (BLA), as per the national 

minimum standard. 

Figure 15 

 

N=93 

Of the 93 children with an Agency Decision for adoption plan agreed: 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of Children's adoption plans approved by ADM each 
month

2012/13 (n=210) 2013/14 (n=180) 2014/15 (n=93)

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16

Number of adoptions plan approved by ADM this year by 
district

ADM BI made after 6 months from BLA (24)

ADM BI made within 6 months of BLA (69)



 83 (90.3%) were white (80 White British, 1 White Other) and 9 (9.7%) were 

of Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) backgrounds (3 mixed White and Black 

Caribbean, 2 Black African, 2 mixed White and Black African, and 2 of ‘Other’ 

mixed background); 

 There were 8 sibling groups of two children; 

 57 were boys, 36 were girls; 

 69 were aged one and under, 18 were aged two to four, and 6 were aged five 

and over. Figure 23 shows that the distribution of children across these age 

ranges has moved significantly towards younger children over the past three 

years. 

Figure 16 

 

 Non-agency 2.14

In 2014/15 there were 34 children adopted via non-agency with 30 families and 11 

children granted SGOs with 6 families under private proceedings. 

 Post Adoption Order support 2.15

As at the end of July the adoption support team had 1581 children adopted by 1127 

families registered with them, including 256 non-Kent children with 193 families. 

The team provides a timely service through an information and advice line which can 

be accessed by professionals and adopters. Where the initial information indicates 

51.4%

34.3%

14.3%

59.8%

30.7%

9.5%

74.2%

19.4%

6.5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

One and under Two-four Five and over

Proportion of children with ADM BI of adoption by age

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15



there is a role for the team this is considered by the team manager and clinical lead 

and the case is allocated to the clinician/social worker who is best placed to support 

the family. In 2014/15 the adoption support team received 267 families requesting 

assessment, leading to 133 families receiving support (132 received this directly 

from Kent, 1 family were provided support via an adoption support agency). Of these 

133 families: 

- 15 children were aged between 0 and 4 years old  

- 35 children were aged between 5 and 8 years old  

- 40 children were aged between 9 and 12 years old  

- 43 children were aged 13 and over  

- 118 children were White, 15 were from black or minority ethnic background 

- the majority of cases were due to requests for therapeutic support 

There were 6 adoption breakdowns in 2014/15 - all children were aged between 11 

and 17 and had been with their adoptive families for at least 10 years. 

3 Timescale analysis 

The child’s journey has a number of milestones that we can track and the timescales 

between these milestones is analysed to determine where there are delays. The six 

milestones are: 

 Child entering care (BLA) 

 Plan for adoption agreed (ADM BI) 

 Placement Order granted (PO) 

 Match agreed by ADM (Match) 

 Child placed with adoptive family (Placement) 

 Child adopted (AO) 

There are four key measures that we track: 

1. Time from entering care to the Agency approval of an adoption plan (NMS 

target is 6 months). This takes into account the adoption plan being agreed by 

the second looked after statutory review. 



2. Time from the Agency approval of an adoption to an adoption panel 

considering a match with an adoptive family (NMS target is 6 months) 

3. Time from entering care to moving in with an adoptive family (adoption 

scorecard target is 14 months) 

4. Time from the LA receiving court authority to place a child for adoption (PO) to 

the approval of a match with an adoptive family (adoption scorecard target is 4 

months) 

Time from entering care to the Agency approval of an adoption plan 

The approvals of an adoption plan were made an average of 5 months after a child 

entered care, better than the six-month timescale set out in the NMS. This is a 

significant improvement compared with performance in 2013/14 (6.5 months) and 

2012/13 (11.7 months). 73.6% of decisions were made within six months of the 

child being taken into care, compared with 58.7% in 2013/14 and 20.5% in 

2012/13. The national average in 2013/14 was 9 months3 – data for 2014/15 is not 

yet available 

Time from the Agency approval of an adoption to an adoption panel considering a 

match with an adoptive family 

40.7% of matches this year met this timescale, compared with 35.3% in 2013/14 

and 37.1% in 2012/13, so performance has continued to improve but needs to 

improve further. However it should be noted that it is dependent on Placement Orders 

being granted in a timely manner by the courts – 40 of the 86 matches in 2014/15 

presented to panel more than 6 months after the best interest decision had to wait 

more than 2 months for the PO to be granted. 

Time from entering care to moving in with an adoptive family 

The average time that children adopted in 2014/15 waited to be placed was 17.5 

months from entering care. This has improved from 21.4 months in 2013/14 and 

23.6 months in 2012/13. This is still above the target of 14 months but better than 

the national average for children adopted between 1 April and 31 December 2014 (as 

per ALB data published on 25 June 2015) of 17.6 months. 

                                        
3 DfE SFR36/2014 



Time from the LA receiving court authority to place a child for adoption (PO) to the 

approval of a match with an adoptive family 

Our annual performance against this measure, based on children adopted, has been 

improving, from 8 months in 2012/13 to 7.4 months in 2013/14 and 6.8 months in 

2014/15. This is still above the 4-month target but better than the national average 

for children adopted between 1 April and 31 December 2014 (as per ALB data 

published on 25 June 2015) of 7.7 months. 

4 Conclusion: 

As can see from the report considerable improvements have been made resulting in 

high numbers of children being placed. Our absolute priority will continue to further 

improve timeliness for children for whom adoption is the plan. 

Yashi Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service 

Kevin Yong, Coram, Head of Consultancy 

14th of August 2015 

 



Kent County Council and Coram Partnership 

Corporate Parenting Panel: 3 September 2015 

Annual Report on Adopters’ Journey 

1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

Yashi Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service and Improvement, Coram, Kent CC 

Kevin Yong, Senior Data Analyst, Coram 



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

Table of Contents 

 

Introduction ............................................................................................................. 2 

Summary Statistics ................................................................................................... 3 

Adopters’ enquiries ................................................................................................... 4 

Initial visits and Registrations of Interest (applications)................................................ 6 

Applications completing Stage One ............................................................................ 6 

Applications for Stage 2 assessment........................................................................... 7 

Adopters approved .................................................................................................. 10 

Kent approved adopters matched with looked after children from other local authorities12 

Adopters approved who have not yet adopted a child .................................................. 12 

Sufficiency ............................................................................................................. 13 

Conclusion: ............................................................................................................ 14 

  



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

Introduction 

This annual report provides a detailed analysis of performance for all adoptive households 

who made an enquiry, submitted a formal application to be assessed as adoptive 

households or were approved to be adopters between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015. 

The Recruitment and Assessment teams are provided with data from the Initial Enquiry 

Team (shared with Fostering Service), who are responsible for fielding the initial calls 

from members of the public who are interested in enquiring about adoption. In addition, 

the teams continue to use a spreadsheet-based tool that captures data for the whole 

adopter’s journey and use it to support effective performance management of every case 

we are dealing with. Coram continues to use this tool alongside Liberi as the latter does 

not allow us to track case progress to the level of detail we need to be able to report on 

our performance in sufficient detail.  



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

Summary Statistics 

 The adoption service has seen a slight fall in the number of enquiries received from 

prospective adoptive households: 572 were received in 2014/15, 6 lower than in 

2013/14. 

 We received 328 formal enquiries in 2014/15, and 159 Registrations of Interest 

(ROI) were submitted, which signalled applicants’ desire to proceed to Stage One of 

the process. 

 149 cases completed Stage One in 2014/15, with 49% doing so within the two-

month timescale set out in the National Minimum Standards 

 We received 144 applications to be assessed (Stage Two), 9 fewer than in 2013/14. 

 127 were from first-time households, 7 from repeat adopters, 8 from foster carers, 1 

from a relative and one Foster For Adoption application. 

 The majority of households applying are couples: 133 couples (including 18 same-sex 

couples) and 11 single adopters.  

 As with previous years, the majority of individuals who have applied are White British 

(89.2%); 7.9% are White but not British. 1 applicant was registered as disabled 

 In total 138 prospective adoptive households were approved by Agency Decision 

Maker between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015. This is 17.4% lower than the 

number approved in 2013/14 (167 approvals). 5 applications were rejected. 

 Of the 138 households approved in the current year 117 were first-time adoptive 

households, 8 repeat adopters, 11 foster-carer adoptive households; 1 relative and 1 

Foster For Adoption applicant. 

 The National Minimum Standards (NMS) for assessments sets out that the ADM 

decision for approval needs to be made within 4 months of an application to be 

assessed. 121 households completed Stage 2 of which 70.2% (85) households were 

approved within this timeframe. 

 As of 31 March 2015, we had 34 active assessments of which 5 were on hold. 

 Further analysis of all of this is provided in the report. 

  



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

Adopters’ enquiries 

Initial enquiries 

Between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015, the Adoption Service received 572 initial 

enquiries, a 1.0% decrease compared with 2013/14 (578). Figure 1 shows the number 

of enquiries received each month for the last three financial years.  

Figure 1 

 

10 enquiries were from foster carers wishing to adopt a child in their care, 8 were from 

repeat adopters and 1 from a relative wishing to adopt a child. 

47 (8.2%) of enquirers were from outside of Kent’s borders, including 23 from Medway, 

1 from Bexley, 7 from Bromley, 2 from Croydon, 4 from East Sussex, 2 from Essex, 2 

from Greenwich, 1 from Hackney, 1 from Lewisham, 1 from Redbridge, 2 from Surrey 

and 1 from West Sussex. 48 enquirers did not provide us with any address details – in 

these cases, they contacted us by email and did not respond to our attempts to contact 

them back. Figure 2 shows the distribution of these enquiries across the authority. 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of initial adoption enquiries received each month

2011/12 (n=525) 2012/13 (n=416) 2013/14 (n=578) 2014/15 (n=572)



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

Figure 2 

 
 

Formal enquiries 

We received 328 formal enquiries in 2014/15, 5 less than the previous year. All were 

provided the ROI form within ten working days, as per the national minimum standard. 

Figure 3 shows the number of formal enquiries received each month. 

 

Figure 3 

 

 

46

62

20

38
33

56

31
24

45
36

51

35
24 23

48

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

Number of enquiries by district (2014/15)

n=572

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of formal enquiries received each month

2013/14 (n=333) 2014/15 (n=328)



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

Initial visits and Registrations of Interest (applications) 

Every enquirer who attends an information event is offered the opportunity to book an 

initial visit at the event. We are able to conduct two visits per day, giving us the capacity 

to conduct around 40 visits a month. If a household does not book a visit at the 

information event, we contact them within five working days of the event to offer them 

the opportunity to book a visit, with the aim of conducting the visit within four weeks of 

the information event they attended. If they do not respond to us within ten working days 

we write to them asking them to get in touch with us when they are ready to proceed. For 

these cases, we stop trying to contact them and just wait for them to contact us. 

Once an initial visit has been conducted, we require social workers to write up a report 

within 3 working days for their manager to review – the manager then has 2 working days 

to sign off the report. 201 initial visits were conducted in 2014/15. 183 out of 201 

initial visit reports (91%) were written up by the social worker within 3 working days; 172 

(86.1%) reports were signed off within five working days (compared with 77% in 

2013/14).  Some of the timescales were not met as managers had to ask for additional 

information before making a final decision to proceed. We continue to track compliance 

with these deadlines weekly, and at monthly performance surgeries (tracking individual 

and manager compliance with the timescales) and as part of supervision (performance 

management). We invite applicants to return their ROI form at the initial visit, and our 

timescales are designed to ensure we meet the 5 working day statutory timescale for 

making ROI decisions. 

The Service received 159 ROIs in 2014/15. A decision was made within 5 working days, 

in line with the national minimum standard, for 140 of these (88.1%). Delays for the 

other 11.9% were a result of needing more information from the applicants before a 

decision could be made. 120 were accepted on to Stage One, while 17 were fast-tracked 

to Stage Two (6 were foster carers, 1 relative adopter, 7 repeat adopters and 2 first-time 

adopters who had previously been through Stage 1). 22 (ROI’s) were rejected. 

Applications completing Stage One 

149 cases completed Stage One in 2014/15, with six not invited to Stage Two. Statutory 

timelines require us to complete Stage One within 2 months. We met this timescale for 



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

49% (73) of the cases (compared with 6.8% in 2013/14). 16 households withdrew their 

application before completing Stage One. 

Our performance did improve over the course of the year, as shown in Figure 4. 

 

Figure 4 

 

The average time taken to complete the 149 Stage 1 pre-assessments was 79 days. 

Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) data published on 25 June 2015 reports that the 

average time taken nationally was 78 days between 1 April and 31 December 2014. 

We continue to track performance on a weekly basis and have continued to work with 

health colleagues to develop an efficient process for handling medical assessments, and 

we are planning to introduce it in the next few months. 

Applications for Stage 2 assessment 

We received 144 new applications in 2014/15. This is a 9 fewer than in 2013/14 (153). 

Figure 5 shows the number of applications we received in each month. 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of cases completing Stage One within timescale 
each month

2013/14 (n=36) 2014/15 (n=149)



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

Figure 5 

 

The 88.2% (127) of the applications received have been from first-time applicants; 4.9% 

(7) of applications were from repeat adopters; 5.6% (8) of applications were from KCC 

foster carers. There was also one application by a relative and one Foster for Adoption 

application. 

 

Adopters’ background 

The 144 households consisted of 277 individuals: 133 couples and 11 single adopters. 

The majority were married couples (115), with a further 9 male-female couples co-

habiting. 18 applications were received from same-sex couples. 

The majority of applicants are White British: 89.2% prospective adopters (247) in the 

current year. A further 7.9% (22) are non-British white – mostly from Western European 

backgrounds. 1 was of other Black ethnicity; 4 were Indian; 1 was of other Asian 

ethnicity; 1 was of mixed ethnicity; and 1 was of other ethnic background. 

1 application was received from a prospective adopter reporting a disability. 

Maidstone provided the highest number of applications, while there were 5 from Medway 

and 11 from other local authorities (2 from West Sussex, 2 from Surrey, 1 from 

Lewisham, 2 from Bexley, 1 from Greenwich, 1 from Lewisham, 1 from Merton, 1 from 

Bolton and 1 from Croydon). There was also an application from step-parents based in 

0

10

20

30

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of applications received each month for a home 
study assessment

2011/12 (n=76) 2012/13 (n=137)

2013/14 (n=153) 2014/15 (n=144)



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

the USA who wanted to adopt a Kent looked after child. Figure 5 shows the distribution 

of applications across the twelve Kent districts. 

Figure 6 

 

Ongoing assessments and withdrawals 

As of 31 March 2015, we had 34 cases under assessment and 5 of these were on hold. 

22 applications were withdrawn between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015. The reasons 

for the withdrawals were: 

- Two changed their minds about wanting to adopt 

- Seven withdrew for personal reasons 

- Eight were not ready to proceed 

- Three  withdrew due to health issues 

- One became pregnant 

- One decided to try IVF after attending prep group 

- One could not proceed due to work commitments 

For the 5 assessments on hold at the end of March 2015: 

- One was due to starting a new job 

- One needed to take time to resolve some personal issues; 

- One had to deal with issues relating to their adopted child; 

- One was due to a terminally ill pet; 

15

9 9
11

4

19

12

5

15

10
7

12

5

11

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20

Number of Stage Two applications by district (2014/15)

n=144



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

There were also 5 approved households who were de-registered in 2014/15. 

- One due to a change in family circumstances 

- One decided adoption was not for them after they had an adoptive placement 

breakdown 

- One moved to Liverpool 

- One applicant became pregnant 

- One changed their mind about adopting 

Adopters approved 

Between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015, the Kent CC Adoption Agency decision 

maker approved 138 prospective adoptive households, a 17.4% decrease compared with 

2013/14 (167) but 58.6% higher than 2012/13 (87) and 106.0% higher than 2011/12 

(67).  

The approvals were made for 117 (84.8%) first-time adoptive households, 8 (5.8%) 

second- or third-time adoptive households, 11 (8.0%) foster-carer adoptive households, 1 

relative and 1 Foster For Adoption applicant. 2 applicants were registered as disabled. 

Figure 7 shows the number of adopters approved by the ADM each month. 

Figure 7 

 

The Agency Decision Makers also deferred decisions on six applications. These were due 

0

5

10

15

20

25

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Number of households approved each month by the ADM

2011/12 (n=67) 2012/13 (n=87)

2013/14 (n=167) 2014/15 (n=138)



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

to: 

- The panel not recommending the approval and the ADM requesting an 

independent view – now approved; 

- The ADM feeling that more work needed to be done with the applicants to ensure 

they understood what adoption entails – now approved; 

- Some statutory checks not being completed – now approved 

- One case needing more medical information – now approved 

- The ADM requesting further assessment of the applicants – now approved 

- One where the ADM felt more time was needed to make their decision – their 

application was rejected. 

Five applications were rejected: 

- One due to concerns about an applicant’s level of alcohol consumption 

- One as a result of the applicants withholding information that came to light at 

panel 

- One as the ADM did not feel the applicants were ready to adopt 

- One who were not recommended for approval by the panel due to concerns about 

an applicant’s mental health 

- One due to concerns raised at panel about previous offence and a lack of remorse 

relating to them 

Two of the 5 households have subsequently appealed to the Independent Review 

Mechanism (IRM) – for one the ADM’s decision was supported, for the other the ADM 

reviewed their original decision and they have now been approved. 

Compliance with the National Minimum Standards for Adoption 

121 households were assessed under the new process whereby the ADM decision should 

be made with four months of the application being accepted. 85 of these 121 cases 

(70.2%) met this timescale. Timescales were not met for 17 households (14%) due to 

the applicants’ circumstances: 

- One was due to a safeguarding investigation; 

- Nine were due to concerns identified during the assessment (e.g. health, finances, 



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

unresolved issues with past); and 

- Seven were due to applicants’ availability (e.g. work commitments, bereavement). 

For 19 (15.8%) the timescale was exceeded due to the local authority: 

- Two  were due to delays in agreeing a financial support package with the foster 

carer applicants 

- Five  were due to the ADM deferring their decision 

- Three were due to delayed allocation; 

- Seven were due to the social worker not meeting the required standards; 

- One was due to panel administration error 

- One was delayed due to the case being reallocated as the original social worker 

had to go on long term sick leave suddenly 

ALB data published on 25 June 2015 reports that the average time taken to complete 

Stage 2 nationally was 122 days – in Kent the average time taken was 129 days. 

We continue to monitor performance with individual social workers on a monthly basis via 

performance surgeries. 

There were also 22 cases who had been assessed under the old (pre July 2013) process. 

4 of these were presented to panel within 8 months of application (as per the NMS), with 

the other cases delayed due to assessments being put on hold. For one of these cases the 

ADM also deferred their decision. 

Kent approved adopters matched with looked after children from other local authorities 

Between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015, 9 Kent households have had 12 children 

placed for adoption where the child was from another local authority. Six children were 

placed with 3 families via the consortium - the other authorities involved were Bradford, 

Portsmouth, Westminster, Barking & Dagenham, Essex and Haringey. 

Adopters approved who have not yet adopted a child 

At the end of March 2015, we had 72 approved households where no children had been 

placed yet. Of these: 

- 21 have since had a match approved, 8 with children from other LAs 

- 2 have withdrawn (one fell pregnant, one changed their mind about adopting) 



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

- 8 are booked to go to panel for a match, 3 with children from other LAs 

- 5 are linked with children - 2 with children from other LAs; 

Of the 35 households with no links: 

- 4 have put family finding on hold; 

- 9 do not wish to be registered on the National Adoption Register; 

- 17 have been registered on the National Adoption Register; 

- 5 are going to register on the National Adoption Register. 

- 10 had been approved and waiting for at least a year at the end of June, 3 of 

which have put their family finding on hold; 

- 12 had been approved and waiting for between six and twelve months, 1 of which 

have put their family finding on hold 

- 13 have been approved and waiting for less than six months; 

Sufficiency 

As set out in the accompanying Child’s Journey report for 2014/15, the number of POs 

has fallen by 51.8% year-on-year, meaning that we need to recruit fewer adopters in 

order to have enough families to place Kent’s children. We forecast that 90 children will 

be granted a PO in 2015/16 (i.e. 7.5 children per month). Assuming that 10% of 

children are placed with foster carers, 17.5% as part of a sibling group and 10% have 

their plan changed from adoption (based on what has happened in Kent over the past 

three years) then we will need to match an average of 5 households with Kent children 

each month. 

As of 10 August 2015 we had 52 households approved and not matched with any 

children, plus a further 36 households in the process of being assessed (in either Stage 1 

or Stage 2), giving us a potential total of 88 households still to match with Kent children. 

Assuming that 20% of these households will be sold to other LAs and a further 10% will 

be de-registered (based on what has happened in the past) then of the 88 potential 

households, 62 will be matched with KCC children. 

As a result of this, recruitment of new adopters was stopped from April 2015 and this 

decision was reviewed in June 2015 with the outcome that there would be no more new 



 

Adopters’ Journey – April 2014 to March 2015 

 

recruitment before September 2015 at the earliest. Households who had already 

contacted us before April 2015 but had not applied are considered on a case-by-case 

basis as to whether we will accept their ROI. This approach has enabled us to focus on 

matching the households already approved and to avoid having households waiting too 

long before being matched. 

Conclusion: 

The report evidences considerable achievements. Our priorities remain improving time 

scales, supporting approved adopters and waiting in becoming adoptive parents. We will    

continue to review our sufficiency strategy so that staffing and other resources are used 

effectively and minimise adopters’ distress and disappointment.  

 

Yashi Shah, Interim Head of Adoption Service 

Kevin Yong, Coram, Head of Consultancy 

14th of August 2015 

 





 Kent Fostering – Changing Futures

By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director, Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 3 September 2015

Subject: KENT FOSTERING ANNUAL REPORT 2014-2015

Classification:  Unrestricted

Electoral Division: All

Summary:

Recommendations:

To update the Corporate Parenting Panel, as requested, on the 
position of the Kent Fostering Service.

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
the content of the report

1.        Introduction

1.1 Since October 2012 Kent’s Fostering Service has been delivered as a centralised 
Fostering Service (recruitment and assessment of foster carers) and a Placement 
Supervision and Support service in each of the four areas: West, East, South and 
North.

1.2 The centralised service is overseen by the County Fostering Manager and covers 
recruitment activity from initial enquiry to assessment and approval, including 
management of panel business.  The training function rests within the central 
service as do the specialist teams for disabled children and the therapeutic
re-parenting programme.

1.3 The structure and staffing of the centralised fostering service is given in 
Appendix 1.

1.4 The area based service is responsible for foster carers’ supervision and support 
including statutory compliance (annual reviews, DBS checks, unannounced visits, 
matching for permanency).  Following panel approval, foster carers are allocated to 
one of seven fostering support teams, which are each based alongside the area 
Children in Care teams and are managed by the Service Manager for that area. 

1.5 The structure and staffing of the area-based fostering service is given in 
Appendix 2.



1.6 As at 31 March 2015 the in-house fostering service had 862 approved fostering 
households (excluding suspended and relief foster carers) which offered a total of 
1,849 potential placements for children in care, including short break carers.

1.7 At that time there was a total of 1,870 children in care, of whom 1,144 were placed 
with in-house foster carers (61%).

1.8 Looking back to previous years ending 31 March 2010 to 31 March 2015, 
Table 1 shows the number of children in care as at 31 March, and the rate per 
10,000 children aged under18 years of age.

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

England 64,470 65,500 67,070 68,060 68,840 Awaiting 
publication

rates 57 58 59 60 60 Awaiting 
publication

Kent 1,480 1,695 1,800 1,830 1,835 1,870

rates 46 53 56 56 56 57



1.10 Table 2 shows the number of children in care at 31 March 2014 by placement 
provider

*England figures rounded to the nearest 10, Kent figures rounded to the nearest 5

2. Legislation and Policy Context

2.1 The Fostering Services: National Minimum Standards 2011 (Standards) and the 
Fostering Services (England) Regulations 2011 (Regulations) issued by the 
Secretary of State under Sections 23 and 49 of the Care Standards Act 2000 
govern the work of the Family Placement Service providers. Additionally the Care 
Planning, Placement and Case Review Guidance (2010) gives further clarity.

2.2 Kent County Council’s Specialist Children’s Services Directorate is a provider of 
such services.

3. Recruitment Activity

3.1 The Centralised Fostering Service has a number of categories of placement types 
which it targets for recruitment, as a direct response to the assessed placement 
needs of the area teams. These placement types include UASC (Unaccompanied 
Asylum Seeking Children), sibling groups, solo placements, parent and child 
placements, disabled children including short breaks, placements for challenging 
young people and for children aged 16+.

3.2 A further target issue for recruitment is the “hot spot” areas of the county, which 
require additional fostering placements to be recruited to, due to a lack of foster 
carers in those areas. These include primarily the North and West areas.

Total 
number 

of 
children 
in care

Own 
provision 

Other 
LA

Other 
public 

provision
Private

Voluntary 
/ third 
sector

Parents 
or other 
person 
with PR

Not 
Reported

England* 68,840 39,490 1,190 330 22,650 1,750 3,210 210

Percent 57% 2% 0.5% 33% 2.5% 5% 0.3%

Kent* 1,835 1,290 10 5 460 25 20 25

Percent 70% 0.5% 0.3% 25% 1% 1% 1%



3.3 Working closely with the communications team, the recruitment service undertakes 
targeted recruitment in these areas including additional information sessions, 
adverts on buses, radio adverts and targeted advertising both in local papers and 
on line.  This also includes monthly information events across the county which are 
held during the evening and weekends. 

3.4 The team also use digital social media such as Facebook and Twitter as a 
campaigning tool, broadening their focus on all “hot spot” Districts of the county.  
The website has been re launched with new images and branding, focusing on 
images of older children.  

3.5 Staff and foster carers were available on information stands at the Tunbridge Wells 
Mela and the Maidstone Mela. The Press Office delivered media training for foster 
carers who were filmed, recorded and prepared for interviews prior and during 
Fostering Fortnight.

3.6 Whilst some hard to reach categories of foster carers have not had recruitment 
targets reached, these are traditionally recruited to from a “grow your own” 
programme, as carers for the more challenging young person or a 16+ are more 
difficult to recruit, and are more likely to be successful when use is made of 
existing and more experienced foster carers.

3.7 The service continues to target these categories of carers and look for new ways of 
attracting carers who will look after the harder to place children and young people 
in care.

3.8 The centralised service is responsible for the marketing of the fostering service and 
the recruitment, assessment and approval of all new in-house foster carers. Its 
targets for new approvals for 2013/14 were based on the Project Initiation 
Document (PID) categories for the fostering service, and updated for 2014/15 
(Table 3).

3.9 Table 3: 
Targets for the recruitment of foster carers by category

Category 2013 Baseline 2014 2015 Targets
Standard 85 79 75
Sibling 48 60 48
Solo 8 10 10
Challenging 25 10 20
16+ 20 2 15
Permanence 30 31 25
Short Breaks & Disability 10 17 10
Connected Carers No set target 45 25
Parent/Child 8 2 12
Respite No set target 4 0
UASC No set target No set target 10
Total 250*

*250 Placements (approx. 170 households)



3.10 A proportion of assessments will not progress to panel due to applicants 
withdrawing, concerns being raised in the statutory checks or alternative plans 
being achieved for connected persons’ assessments.

3.11 Between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015 837 new enquiries were made by 
those interested in becoming a foster carer, with 177 assessments undertaken, and 
137 new approvals following fostering panel recommendations

3.12 A total of 118 new fostering households (not connected carers) have been 
approved with an additional 19 connected carers. This has made available 229 
(204 non connected, 25 connected) new children’s placements.  

3.13 The Fostering Network Benchmarking report “Local Authority Fostering Service” 
2013/14 highlights a number of significant factors which are used to indicate an 
authority’s fostering service performance which are shown in Table 4 below for 
KCC, with the comparison against the National Average.

3.14 Table 4: Fostering performance factors

Kent
(2014/2015)

National Average
(2013/2014)

Conversion Rate: The number of 
enquiries which result in approval
(837 enquiries/137 approvals)

16% 11%

Conversion Rate excluding connected 
persons  
(837 enquiries/118 approvals)

14% Data not available

Conversion Rate: The number of 
assessments undertaken which result in 
approval
(177 assessments/137 approvals)

77% 78.6%

Attrition Rate: The rate of loss of foster 
carers each year

9.3% 13%

Utilisation: The percentage of in-house 
foster carers used

62.8% 69.4%

Vacancy: The percentage of in-house 
foster carer vacancies

14% 31%

3.15 It can be seen that Kent Fostering Service compares favourably with the National 
Average in relation to its foster carer recruitment.  An example of the factors 
included are, the “available/ conditional” and “non-usable” foster carer vacancies.  
Available/conditional vacancies include those carers which may be approved for 
three placements and have two children in placement already which leads to 
significant matching considerations.  A non-usable vacancy might be one where 
there has been an allegation made against the carer who is suspended, pending 
investigation, or has requested a break from fostering due to family ill health.

4. Specialist Fostering Services 

4.1 The Centralised Fostering Service manages two specific specialised fostering 
schemes.  



 The Therapeutic Re-parenting Programme continues to support young 
children (aged 4 – 11) with a diagnosed attachment disorder.  The foster 
carers work intensively with the children for a two year period to support 
them to their eventual permanent placement.  This centrally co-ordinated 
service is delivered from within each area and currently supports 14 children 
and young people within 13 fostering households. 

 The Disability Fostering Service offers long term and short break 
placements to disabled children through its current 58 carers.  In 2014/15 the 
service provided 1663 family short break nights and 807 carer to carer short 
break nights to disabled children across the county.  Currently this service 
offers 101 placements for disabled children and continues to be a priority 
target category for foster carer recruitment. 

5. Training

5.1 Training for Foster Carers across the county is the responsibility of the 
Centralised Fostering training manager who works in partnership with the Training 
Steering Group (TSG).  The TSG meets regularly and is made up of “leads” from 
the area fostering teams and representative foster carers.  The training 
programme and annual calendar includes a programme of training days, 
workshops and e-learning courses which are responsive to the diverse learning 
requirements of foster carers across the county.  The programme includes 
“pre-approval” training, i.e. Skills to Foster, core training for new carers and 
training and development for experienced foster carers.

5.2 There are also opportunities for carers to gain nationally recognised qualifications, 
i.e. Level 3 Diploma for Children and Young People’s Workforce and BTEC Level 4 
Expert Practice in Working with Traumatised Children.  The current focus is on 
CSE training for all foster carers with children aged 11 plus. 

5.3 In 2012 a successful bid to the DfE was made in respect of funding for “keep 
safe” training for foster carers which is delivered over a 20 week schedule.  This 
training is aimed at carers who care for young people aged between 12 and 18.  
Kent has successfully delivered ten keep safe training programmes.  This will 
continue to be a key feature of the Foster Carer Training Programme post funding, 
which ended in March 2015.  Kent County Council was the first authority to have its 
training manager and co-facilitator accredited to deliver this training course which 
continues to be exceptionally well received by Kent foster carers.

6. 0 – 25 Transformation Programme

6.1 The Interim Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting (Geoff Gurney) and the 
County Manager for Fostering (Teresa Vickers) are working with the Newton 
Europe Transformation programme leads (Luke Roberts and Kat Suddaby), and 
working with colleagues across the county in order to ensure an effective and 
efficient fostering service.

6.2 From 20 January 2014, following a pilot in the North and West Areas, each area’s 
fostering duty and placement work was undertaken centrally via the Area 
Resources Team (ART).  This created a county Single Placement Team utilising 



staff from each of the area fostering support teams on a rota basis to support a co-
ordinated approach to the finding of appropriate foster placements.

How do you ensure that foster care is provided as set out in the child’s care plan?

6.3 The placement of children with foster cares happens in area fostering support 
teams, with input and oversight from the Access to Resources Team. The work of 
the Transformation Team is currently in its final phase, and has delivered results in 
the West area and will now go countywide. 

6.4 The model

Open Searching:  This aims to deliver a new, phased geographic search to place 
the child close to their support network. This involves visibility of vacancies across 
the county to provide the child with a greater choice; ownership of placing a child 
with their local team to find the best match for a child and linking with their social 
worker; a simplified search process to give more social work time to identify a 
match.

Every child matched: This includes a priorities list to ensure every child’s referral 
is treated the same and support duty in managing multiple referrals. Daily wash up 
provides managers with oversight of activities and support on referrals for difficult to 
place children. Improved administrative support to the duty officer helps to 
maximise the social workers’ time matching.

Every child supported: Weekly and monthly review meetings develop the service 
and raise countywide issues preventing in house placements. Tracking no match 
reasons help to inform commissioning services and recruitment to develop the 
service and ensure children can be placed in house in the future. Carer feedback 
informs individual development plans and wider service development

6.5 Monthly review meetings must focus on fostering performance and hold Service 
Managers to account against this Manual (the service specification). This meeting 
will sit at the top of a meeting structure outlined below. 

6.6 Ensuring that Carers are prepared for their placement and that they understand the 
importance and significance of the child’s care plan at point of placement is the 
work of social workers within the area Children in Care teams. Placement plans are 
regularly updated and the fostering service helps carers to prepare for a child's 
review.  Ongoing supervision of foster carers monitor that child’s needs are being 
met. An allocated Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) reviews the placement and 
care plan to ensure it is meeting needs. Children and young people are asked 
about how they feel in placement through consultation leaflets and are encouraged 
to attend. Current performance around attendance is good. IROs look at social 
worker visits reports and meet with the children and young people. Where there are 
concerns that placement is not meeting the child's needs or there are concerns that 
a breakdown may be possible, a core stability meeting is held. 

6.7 Following regular checks to ensure placement plans, and placement risk 
assessments are in place, IROs will also visit the child or young person between 
reviews.



 How well do children progress in their learning, health and social development?

 The number of children looked after achieving at least level 4 in Reading at the end of 
Key Stage 2 has seen an improving trend, increasing 15% from 2009 to 2014.

 The number of children looked after achieving at least Level 4 in Mathematics at the 
end of Key Stage 2 has improved 25% over the period 2009 to 2014.

 The percentage of looked after children achieving 5 A*-C has improved from 9.5% in 
2009 to 13% in 2014.  

 Similar improvements have been made in the year-on-year reduction in Permanent 
Exclusions and persistent absence.  Fixed term exclusions are down from 17.2% in 
2009 to 14.1% in 2013.  Persistent absence decreased from 9.7% to 6.5% over the 
period 2009 to 2014.

 The percentage of those with Special Educational Needs (SEN) has increased from 
27% in 2011 to 28.3% in 2014

6.8 Robust tracking and monitoring systems are in place with a focus on ensuring 
Children in Care have timely health assessments.  Children who have been in 
care for twelve months as of 31 March 2015 showing as 91.1% of health 
assessments as having been completed with dental checks being 93.6%. Young 
people aged 16 and above and Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children
are a significant group of those not having a health or dental check within the 
twelve months and there is multi-agency work in place to ensure these young 
people are targeted and encouraged to see a health professional.

How do you ensure that the fostering service contributes to promoting good 
outcomes for children and young people?

6.9 The Fostering Support Teams are managed by the same Service Manager for the 
Children in Care teams in each area, North, South, East and West. This enables 
close working relationships and contributes to ensuring that the focus in all things 
remains the child.  Foster carers provide evidence of how standards are being met 
as part of their annual review. The Fostering Support Team requests feedback on 
the progress of placements from social workers, birth parents and children 
themselves; this feedback informs the annual review process.

6.10 Foster carers receive regular supervision which is child centred, and participate in 
all meetings related to the child.

6.11 The Fostering central teams are responsible for eliciting initial enquiries and the 
recruitment and selection (approval) of foster carers at Fostering Panels. They also 
provide high quality training for foster carers. To progress through the competency 
stages, foster carers need to provide evidence that their learning has been 
consolidated into their practice.  Personal development plans and learning logs 
form part of the skills progression for foster carers. Local fostering panels are able 
to monitor and influence practice by making recommendations on all fostercarer 

first reviews, changes of registration and complaints and allegations.

6.12 There is a strong commitment to ensuring children are placed locally and within 
their home community; this allows for continuity of education and relationships. 
Children are supported with their options for further education and are encouraged 
to attend higher education including university   'Team around the child/Network 
meetings' take place for children with complex needs. Core Stability meetings are 



designed to maintain children in placements who are beginning to show some 
difficulties. There is a ‘wrap around’ Children in Care CAMHS service from a Health 
provider. 

6.13 All of the above ensure that consistent support is given to the foster carer and in 
turn the child in order to promote good outcomes: Permanency is a framework of 
emotional, physical and legal conditions that gives a child a sense of security, 
continuity, commitment and identity. Our job is to ensure that children have a 
secure, stable and loving family to support them through childhood and beyond.

What do children and young people say about your service and how do they 
contribute to its development?

6.14 Participation and engagement is encouraged at various levels including during 
statutory processes such as social worker visits, Personal Education Plan (PEP) 
meetings and LAC reviews. However, other key developments include:

 A DVD that shows Children in Care and Care Leavers talking about their 
experiences of the care system

 A Leaving Care Charter
 Continuing the development of the OYPC (Our Young People’s Council), with 

local branches 
 Social care and Early Help areas/county teams have identified Participation 

Champions to join a Participation and Engagement Working Group to represent 
their area/service, and to compile a register of Participation, Consultation, 
Involvement, and Engagement activities, and to instigate new and innovative 
approaches to listening to and acting on the voice of the child. 

 Independent surveys are used to report what children and young people say to 
the Corporate Parenting Group (officers) and to the Corporate Parenting Panel 
(members)

 The views of Children in Care are also captured about their experiences in the 
LAC review process and health assessment processes, and the findings are 
shared with Members and Senior Officers to inform service delivery and design.

 Quarterly newsletters for Children in Care are produced by the Virtual School 
Kent (VSK) apprentices (care leavers)

 Participation Activity days continue to be facilitated by VSK, with events planned 
during the summer school holidays.  VSK apprentices and staff also support 
other participation events organised by the Kent Foster Care Association 
(KFCA) and the Children in Care teams

 The Kent Pledge (Promises) leaflet is being redesigned and will be launched 
soon

 The next LILAC Assessment is planned to take place in September

How do recruitment, assessment, training and supervision of foster carers promote 
positive outcomes for children and young people?

6.15 The supervision of foster carers includes looking at the implementation of the care 
plans for all children in placement and ensuring this is being progressed. The 
Fostering Support teams sit alongside the Children in Care teams under the same 
management which has allowed for closer working and planning for children and 



young people. Supervision includes unannounced visits in order to monitor 
standards of care giving advice, support and guidance in managing behaviour and 
identifying actions that need to be taken to meet the needs of children placed in 
foster care.

6.16 The recruitment and assessment of carers is managed centrally. Kent has a 
dedicated Initial Enquiries Team as the first contact point for all enquirers.  The 
team are kept updated about the types of families the service needs and a clear 
message is given about the children’s needs and the qualities required to become a 
foster carer. All materials promote a diverse range of carers needed so as to ensure 
choice of placements and appropriate matches.  The recruitment service has clear 
targets which relate to specific geographical areas (districts) as well as types of 
carers needed. Safeguarding is a significant factor when addressing the 
assessment process of potential foster carers.  Checks and references provide a 
robust system to ensure applicants are appropriate to care for children.  Training is 
an expectation of all carers so that they are able to achieve the competencies/ 
standards necessary to look after children and young people in their care.  

How do you involve foster carers in: Plans for moving children and young people; 
planning for placements; reviewing placements; delegated authority; leaving care; 
educational placements?

6.17 Carers are considered to be part of the professional team around the child. Foster 
carers are key participants in the Placement Planning meeting, PEPs, and the 
child’s or young person’s Statutory Review. The Placement Plan will identify 
the individual areas of delegated authority. Foster carers work closely with the 
child’s social worker and Leaving Care Service colleagues in preparing young 
people for independence and adulthood. There is an increasing number of young 
people who remain with their foster carers when they leave care at 18, and these 
young people continue to be supported by the Leaving Care service. 

6.18 Foster carers are supported through supervision and training to provide reports for 
Statutory Reviews. All carers are involved in the contributing to the PEP, Pathway 
Plan and Health Action Plan. Feedback forms are gathered at the end of every 
placement and for the foster carer’s own Annual Review of approval. These 
feedback opportunities and attendance at regular support group meetings and 
the Foster Care Advisory Boards allow foster carers to contribute to the 
development of children’s services over all.

6.19 Where children and young people need to leave a placement, a minimum of 28 
days’ notice is required in order to plan and have introductions to the new foster 
carers. 

What do foster carers say about your service?

6.20 Foster carers are able to give feedback at any point but are encouraged to give 
written feedback on the service as part of their annual review. Each area has an 
Advisory Board made up of foster carers who feed into the County Advisory Board 
where developments are discussed and foster carers’ views obtained and actioned.

6.21 Foster carers say that they value having a consistent worker and knowing that 
they can contact someone out of office hours. Foster carers have reported that on 



time payments for respite/Short Breaks have continued to improve. They value 
having the opportunity to meet with Area and County managers through the area 
and County Advisory Boards. They have been pleased to be represented on the 
Corporate Parenting Panel and say they have found the work of Virtual School Kent 
(VSK) invaluable in assisting them with young peoples’ health and educational 
issues.  Participation events have been well attended and foster carers report 
that children and young people have very much enjoyed these.

How do you involve staff in the development of your service?

6.22 As the Fostering Support teams (for the most part) now sit with the Children in Care 
teams there is opportunity to work together to develop the service for children and 
young people. There is a monthly extended fostering managers’ meeting to bring 
the central teams and area teams together in order to continue to develop the 
service. Staff are consulted within team meetings, practice development meetings 
and team development days. Social workers are often represented on working 
groups locally and across the county.

7. Service Improvement and Development

7.1 The KCC and Newton Europe Transformation agenda includes a programme to 
reduce the spend on Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) placements and has 
been successful in meeting its target of close to 83% of children placed in Kent (in-
house) fostering agency placements. Work continues to embed this across the 
county. 

7.2 The interim Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting is currently undertaking a 
review of the fostering service, to provide a ‘Service Specification’ for Kent 
Fostering, to strengthen the Quality Assurance (against the Fostering Minimum 
Standards) and help improve processes in the service that promote good outcomes 
for children and young people.

7.3 The authority has now extended the Tri.X online procedures to include a Foster 
Carer Handbook, and work continues to update guidance and procedures to meet 
changing legislation. This includes the status and flexibilities awarded to long term 
foster carers, and to further the implementation of Staying Put post 18 
arrangements.  Paperless Panels using tablet computers are also planned for 2016.

7.4 As a result of an external review of the Fostering Service, which was completed in 
the autumn of 2014, an Improvement Plan was developed to address the issues 
identified in the review to ensure full compliance with national minimum 
standards (NMS).  As part of this work, the service has focused on seven priority 
areas for action:

Priority Area 1
Ensure that children and young people communicate their views on all 
aspects of their care and support.  (NMS 1.3)

Priority Area 2
Ensure all foster carers receive training in positive care and control of 
children.  (NMS 3.8)

 



Priority Area 3
Ensure the care and support provided to children minimises the risk that they 
will go missing and reduces the risk of harm should the child go missing. 
(NMS 5.1)

Priority Area 4
Ensure any allegations made against foster carers are reported to the LADO, 
and full information and outcome recorded on foster carers’ electronic case 
record.

Priority Area 5
Ensure the foster home is inspected annually, without appointment, by the 
fostering service to make sure that it continues to meet the needs of foster 
children (NMS 10.5)

Priority Area 6
Maintain an effective strategy to ensure sufficient foster carers are 
responsive to current and predicted future demands on the service.  
(NMS 13.1)

Priority Area 7
Ensure the manager regularly monitors all records kept by the service to 
ensure compliance with the service’s policies, to identify any concerns about 
specific incidents and to identify patterns and trends.  (NMS 25.2)

7.5 The Fostering Improvement Plan was further amended to address 
recommendations arising from an internal audit report completed in March of this 
year.  The current version of the Improvement Plan is attached as Appendix 3.

7.6 The Fostering Improvement Plan has updated actions against all of the above and 
provides assurance of improved performance, using both quantitative and 
qualitative measures. This is further evidenced by the positive reports of two 
Fostering Deep Dive events in May and July this year.

8. In summary

 Participation and engagement is encouraged at a variety of levels and an Action 
Plan has been developed to capture participation, consultation, involvement and 
engagement of children and young people across the County and to instigate new 
and innovative approaches to make sure that the voice of the child is heard and 
acted upon.

 The foster carers’ training programme includes training in positive care and control 
of children and there is a record of take-up. Training courses and input to support 
groups continue to ensure the care and support provided to children minimises the 
risk that they will go missing.

 A process is now in place to make sure that allegations made against foster carers 
are reported to the LADO when this is appropriate (not a complaint about foster 
carers that is a ‘standard of care’ issue), and records are always updated on Liberi.

 Fostering data show above 90% of foster homes are inspected annually, without 
appointment.



 Newton Europe’s work of introducing a Vacancy Tool and Dashboard, and new 
procedures for each area fostering support teams has developed and is maintaining 
an effective strategy to ensure sufficient foster carers are responsive to current and 
predicted future demands on the service. 

 Team managers and service managers meet regularly to monitor compliance with 
policies and procedures, and to identify any concerns about specific incidents and 
to identify patterns and trends. 

 There is no risk register for the Fostering Service, but risks of sustainability are 
recorded in risk registers for Specialist Children’s Services and the wider 
Directorate.

 Liberi does continue to show Inconsistencies with record keeping and data quality 
but internal audits, supervision of workers and service action plans address these.

 There is a programme of core training, and Liberi now records a training record for 
each foster carer.

 Regulatory and practice compliance is being addressed through the role of the 
County (Responsible) Manager and a new Service Specification for central and 
area teams.

 The LADO service records every allegation that is or may be a child protection 
concern and complaints against foster carers that are ‘standards of care’ issues are 
recorded centrally and on Liberi.

 Fostering data shows a continuing monitoring of completion of necessary DBS 
checks of members of the foster care household.

 A review of policy and guidance dealing with foster carers’ expenses, maintenance 
allowances and fees, is underway and will conclude with new procedures and 
guidance to tackle inconsistencies.

 New age appropriate Statements of Purpose have been written and are ready to be 
signed off by the Lead Member. 

9. Recommendations

9.1 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the content of the 
report.

10 Report Author

Geoff Gurney
Interim Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting 
03000 414873
Geoff.gurney@kent.gov.uk

11. Background Documents

None





County  
Manager

Initial 
Enquiries 

Team 
Coordinator

Initial 
Enquiry   

Advisors  x 
2

Fostering 
Training 
Manager

KEEP Co-
facilitator

Training 
Admin 
Officer

Fostering and 
Adoption 

Recruitment 
Coordinator

Assessment 
Team 

Managers x 2

Assessment 
Social Workers  

Panel 
Coordinators     

x 2

Panel 
Administrators  

x 6

Team 
Manager - 
Disabled 

Children's 
Fostering and 
Short Breaks

Social Workers  
x 4

Admin Officer

Senior 
Practitioner - 
Therapeutic 
Re-parenting 

Programe

Admin 
Officer 

Appendix 1





Children & Young 
People Service 

Manager

Fostering Support 
Team Manager

Social Workers x 6 TRP* Lead

Social Work Assistants 
x 3 TRP Support Worker

Admin Officer

NORTH KENT

Appendix 2

TRP = Therapeutic Re-Parenting Programme



Children & Young 
People Service  

Manager

Team 1
Fostering Support 

Team Manager

Social Workers x 5 TRP Lead

Social Work Assistants 
x 2 TRP Support Worker

Admin Officer

Team 2
Fostering Support 

Team Manager

Social Workers x 5 TRP Lead

Social Work Assistant Admin Officer

SOUTH KENT



Children & Young People 
Service Manager

Fostering Support Team 
Manager

Social Workers x 6 TRP Lead

Social Work Assistants    x 2 Admin Officers x 2

WEST KENT



Children & Young 
People Service 
Managers x 2

Team 1
Fostering Support 

Team Manager

Social Workers x 6

Social Work Assistants 
x 2

Admin Officers x 2 
(also support Team 3)

Team 2
Fostering Support 

Team Manager

Social Workers x 7

Social Work Assistants 
x 2

Admin Officers x 3

Team 3
Fostering Support 

Team Manager

Social Workers x 4 TRP Lead

Social Work Assistants 
x 2 TRP Support Worker

EAST KENT



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

Fostering Improvement Plan April 2015 
Now incorporating the Management Action Plan from the In-House Foster Care

(RB19 2015) internal audit report dated June 2015

7 Priority Areas for Action

Priority Area 1:  Ensure that children and young people communicate their views on all aspects of their care and support.  This 
recommendation is made within the context of further developing consultation forums to enable their views to inform service development 
(NMS 1.3)

Management Action Required Delivery Leads When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

Looked after Children’s and Fostering Teams to promote the 
voice of the children and young people in their districts 
addressing NMS 1.3 as a priority (regs 3.31 - 3.42) 

Children in Care 
Team Managers

June 2015 Participation Strategy signed off by the 
Divisional Managers Team (Assistant 
Directors and the Director of Specialist 
Children’s Services) in May 2015, and 
presented to the Children in Care (District) 
Service Managers in June 2015.

To increase feedback available for foster carers’ annual 
reviews from children and young people.

Fostering Team 
Managers

Ongoing Proposed change to more independent 
reviews of foster carer’s approvals each 
year that will improve this. But the need for 
more feedback has been discussed at CIC 
Service Managers and Fostering Support 
Team Managers Meetings with a 
requirement to  monitor this activity.

1.1

To ensure children’s views from child in care reviews feed into 
foster carer supervision and annual reviews, and are acted 
on.

IROs and 
Fostering Team 
Managers

Ongoing As above

1.2
Fostering Support Team Managers to set up tracking systems 
to ensure requested feedback forms at the end of placements 
and at Annual Reviews are returned by area social workers.

CiC Service 
Managers

Ongoing As above

Appendix 3



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

1.4

Young people involved in training, assessing and recruiting 
foster carers.

Teresa Vickers, 
County Manager / 
Sue Clifton 
Sarah Skinner 
(Apprentices)

June 2015 Young people are involved in the 
assessment process for new carers and in 
the recruitment of some staff. Former CIC 
are now recruited as Fostering Panel 
members. 

Priority Area 2:  Ensure all foster carers receive training in positive care and control of children.  This recommendation is made within the 
context of the need to review and update guidance for foster carers, with particular regard to the physical restraint policy and procedure (NMS 
3.8)

Management Action Required Delivery Leads When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

2.2

Undertake comprehensive needs and gap analysis of foster 
carer training, with reference to supporting carers to take 
more challenging placements and missing children / CSE. 
Needs analysis to include feedback from young people.

Teresa Vickers, 
County Manager

 May 2015 John Taylor (commissioning) has met with 
young people – info about training.
Revamped Training programmes and clear 
about what’s expected. 
CSE training commissioned and in the 
programme.

Priority Area 3: Ensure the care and support provided to children minimises the risk that they will go missing and reduces the risk of harm 
should the child go missing.  This recommendation is made within the context of the service continuing to drive  down the number of episodes 
of children going missing (NMS 5.1)

Management Action Required Delivery Leads When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

3.1

Fostering Teams ensure all Foster Carers understand 
strategy for dealing with missing child and ensure risk 
assessments are updated. Managers to take missing / CSE 
themes and guidance to Foster Carer Forums

Fostering Team 
Managers

May 2015 Training programme has CSE and missing 
training. Work being done to ensure all 
carers confident about talking to children 
and young people in care about those risk 
issues as part of preventive work.
Barnardos used for Operation Lakeland and 
now commissioned training. Tendering 
process underway.



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

Dedicated CSE training programme to be developed for all 
foster carers approved for age 11 plus for them to do 
preventive work with the children they care for. Fostering 
social workers to be trained alongside foster carers.
Records of work done with young people to be on child and 
carer’s files.

Teresa Vickers, 
County Manager

3.2

To be incorporated into annual reviews Fostering Team 
Managers and 
CIC Service 
Managers

July 2015 Completed

Priority Area 4:  Ensure any allegations made against foster carers are reported to the LADO, and full information and outcome recorded on 
foster carers’ electronic case record.

Management Action Required Delivery Leads When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

4.1

Ensure Liberi recording is improved to reflect full range of 
allegations made against carers. All significant incidents of 
concern, complaint or allegation in a foster home to be logged 
and recorded on Liberi foster carer file.

CIC Service 
Managers / 
Fostering 
Managers

May 2015 Completed

4.2

Ensure all fostering social workers and team managers have 
read and understood the national minimum standards, and 
Kent’s policy for allegations against foster carers

Teresa Vickers, 
County Manager
CIC Service 
Managers

April 2015 Completed

4.3 Monitor reporting in monthly fostering scorecard of allegations 
made against carers

ADS monitoring 
MIU scorecards

April 2015 Completed

4.4
LADO to visit every Fostering Team Meeting and remind of the 
process for reporting allegations against carers

LADO Manager, 
Safeguarding AD 
Patricia Denney

June 2015 Completed



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

Priority Area 5:  Ensure the foster home is inspected annually, without appointment, by the fostering service to make sure that it continues to 
meet the needs of foster children (NMS 10.5)

Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

5.1

12 monthly unannounced visits undertaken and health & 
safety inspection undertaken/reviewed at that time. 

Fostering 
Managers and 
CIC Service 
Managers

May 2015 Current completions at 97.5%. Expect to see 
further improvement (target 100%).
95% target reality check likely.

Continue to monitor 6 weekly supervisions.
Start to assess quality of work being done with carers through 
supervisions, annual reviews and unannounced visits.

Fostering 
Managers and 
CIC service 
managers

May 2015 Current completions for 6 week supervisions 
is 95.6%.

Priority Area 6:  Maintain an effective strategy to ensure sufficient foster carers are responsive to current and predicted future demands on the 
service.  This recommendations is made within the context of recruiting a sufficient number of foster carers who can accommodate sibling 
groups, so as to reduce the need for exemptions (NMS 13.1)

Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

6.1

Update/review the recruitment strategy Teresa Vickers, 
County Manager

June 2015 Website refreshed. Recent recruitment 
activity focused on targeted areas: siblings, 
adolescents, North and West Kent. Review 
effectiveness of strategy and refine further.

Ensure better use of current vacancies, review and deregister 
where carers inactive.

Fostering and 
CIC Service 
Managers

June 2015 Work piloting in West to increase use of 
identified fostering vacancies. Progress 
made to deregister inactive carers, further 
work to ensure through put and accurately 
reflect case loads. See Transformation roll 
out plan.



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

Priority Area 7:  Ensure the manager regularly monitors all records kept by the service to ensure compliance with the service’s policies, to 
identify any concerns about specific incidents and to identify patterns and trends.  This recommendation is made within the context of 
addressing the variable quality of carer supervision records and ensuring that all service policies and procedures are regularly reviewed and 
updated (NMS 25.2)

Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

7.1

Foster carer files to be audited monthly, at least one audit 
completed per team. Themes from audit to be fed back and 
used to improve supervision quality and recording. 

Fostering Team 
Managers, Head 
of Quality 
Assurance

Ongoing New audit tool completed, but needs to be 
added to on line system. Some auditing has 
taken place (New carers). Future audit cycle 
to be part of regular QA.

Fostering Improvement Plan April 2015
Now incorporating the Management Action Plan from the In-House Foster Care

(RB19 2015) internal audit report dated June 2015

8 Risk Areas identified by Internal Audit

1. Risk Register. There is no risk register for the Fostering Service. Interviews with managers identified risks that were not recorded on the 
SCS risk register such as foster carer retention, placement sufficiency and failure to meet statutory requirements. There are other risks that 
we identified during the course of the audit such as failure to maintain DBS checks and inappropriate payments that equally were not 
recorded.

Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

None. Not accepted. 
Risks identified by the Internal Audit team included the risk 
that not enough Kent foster placements would be in place to 
meet identified demand for foster care from the children in 
care population. This is a risk recognized at length in Kent’s 
Sufficiency Strategy, a statutory document that forms part of 
our Annex A Ofsted required information at the point of 
inspection. This risk is also a national risk not specific to Kent, 

None N/A Work has been done to maintain an effective 
strategy to ensure sufficient foster carers are 
responsive to current and predicted future 
demands on the service.  The Newton 
Europe Transformation has been very 
successful in the West and is rolling out 
across the other areas. Well above target 
(86%) of in-house placements achieved in 



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

and in fact, Kent has above average proportions of its child in 
care population placed with in house foster carers. Specialist 
Children’s Services consider that the risks identified and 
addressed through the audit are addressed.

June 2015.

Risks to Fostering and other services are 
regularly discussed at Directorate and 
Divisional Risk meetings, and documented in 
Business Plans.

2. Data Quality and Record Keeping.  Inconsistencies with record keeping and data quality were noted throughout the audit.
Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 

completed by
Progress to date

The service accepts that current information on some files 
requires improvement, but this is in part due to having 
recorded information across 3 systems until very recently. 
These systems include Liberi, the children’s social care 
electronic recording system which the fostering service has 
only recently started using, paper files and the G Drive. Liberi 
has historically not been able to store scanned documents but 
will be doing so very soon, eliminating the need for any other 
recording systems and leading to improved data quality and 
record keeping.

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting

September 
2015

We have developed an online tool for 
auditing Foster Carer cases. And this will be 
implemented during September 2015.

Anything that can be should be put on Liberi, 
and this is being monitored. From September 
all new carers will be paperless as 
everything for recruitment and assessment 
will be handed over to the teams on 
line/Liberi.

3. Training. Although there is a programme of core training, there is no central monitoring in place to record completion of this. Training 
should be assessed as part of the carer’s Annual Review, and the majority of reviews sampled stated this had been done. There is a risk to 
the safety and well-being of the child if carers do not receive appropriate training. There is also a risk of non-compliance with the Fostering 
Service (England) Regulations and the National Minimum Standards.  

Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

Records of training attendance by foster carers have 
historically been kept on their own files although each area 
has used spreadsheets to understand training attendance for 
their own carers. As stated above training records are now 
kept on Liberi which facilitates analysis of training uptake. 
Undertaking a training needs analysis for foster carers and 
redesigning the training programme accordingly is a priority for 
2015.

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting

30th June 2015 We have implemented a system of central 
management oversight to ensure that this is 
captured and reviewed robustly.  We will 
ensure that where appropriate both carers 
undertake training and that the Quality 
Assurance function of the Fostering Panel is 
more rigorously applied.



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

4. Regulatory and practice compliance. There is a risk of lack of compliance with the Fostering Service (England) Regulations and the National 
Minimum Standards. There is the risk of a less favourable Ofsted report if these requirements cannot be demonstrated as met. Inadequate 
support for carers may result in poor standards of care or disengagement. The Foster Carers category may no longer be suitable which 
could lead to inappropriate standards of care or in failure to maximum the use of resources. 

Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

The fieldwork was undertaken at a point when we were in the 
process of implementing the Fostering Improvement Plan.

It is acknowledged that there is insufficient feedback from 
children and their social workers incorporated into the Annual 
Review of carers. This is a priority for service development for 
2015.

Foster carer agreements will be updated at annual reviews 
and resigned, although this is not a statutory requirement. 

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting

Outstanding

February 2015

30th June 2015

Outstanding

We are currently developing an online tool 
for auditing Foster Carer cases and a revised 
performance management framework is now 
in place.

There have been gaps in supervision, 
however this has been improving with the 
use of the tracking tools and is now 
monitored weekly.  Our position as of 
February 2015 was that 6 weekly supervision 
was up to date in over 90% of cases. 
Supervision is now tracked using the weekly 
performance monitoring tool by managers, 
so there should not be any carers who are 
not receiving super vision.

Participation Strategy signed off by the 
Divisional Managers Team (Assistant 
Directors and the Director of Specialist 
Children’s Services) in May 2015, and 
presented to the Children in Care (District) 
Service Managers in June 2015.

Discussed with CIC and FST Managers and 
will be monitored for compliance.



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

5. Complaints and Allegations. There is no complete central record held of complaints and allegations received, either within the Fostering 
Service or by the SCS Complaints team. There is a risk of lack of compliance with the statutory requirements. There is also the risk that 
complaints and allegations may not be handled appropriately leading to safeguarding issues or carer disengagement.  If central records are 
not maintained, emerging themes and trends may not be identified and therefore addressed and the Council may not be able to provide 
accurate records in the event of enquiry or statutory request for information.

Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

The information available is distributed across paper and 
electronic files. It is clear that recording practice has not been 
robust in the fostering teams and needs to improve. It does 
appear that discussions may have been had with the LADO in 
two out of the three cases, but that this was not recorded 
anywhere. This is both a recording and a practice problem as 
it suggests an insufficiently robust approach to addressing 
allegations alongside lack of recording activity. We will ensure 
that there is central management oversight of complaints and 
allegations. 

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director for 
Corporate 
Parenting

30th June 2015 The procedures for what to do when an 
allegation is made against a carer has been 
updated and is available in Kent’s Policy 
pages, and the LADO team have agreed to 
attend fostering team meetings to reinforce 
the requirements of the police which is in line 
with national minimum standards to refer all 
allegations made against foster carers to a 
LADO, and to ensure that copes of the 
subsequent investigation activity is kept on 
the carer’s file.

6. DBS Checks – Other members of the household. We could not confirm that there is a robust systematic approach to monitoring, and 
ensuring completion of, the DBS checks of members of the foster care household who are not main or joint carers. Children may have 
regular contact with adults who present a risk to their safety.

Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

This may have been the case at the time of the audit work, but 
is no longer the case. DBS checks for main and link foster 
carers, and associated adults, are monitored weekly through a 
tracker on the SCS performance management data site and 
available to all teams. We will reinforce the performance 
framework to ensure that DBS clearances are current. 

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director 

30th June 2015 All managers are using this tracker to ensure 
DBS compliance.



Ofsted Fostering Service Action Plan started November 2013 

7. Expenses. The rates for mileage and day care were last reviewed in 2009. There is no policy or guidance in place for either staff or carers 
detailing the expenses that may be claimed, such as journeys, day care or payment in lieu of annual leave. There is also no guidance setting 
out the expenses that the maintenance grant is expected to cover. The scheme of allowances is costly or inconsistent leading to payments 
made that do not represent best value for the Council and a failure to meet savings targets. There is also the risk that carers are not treated 
equally leading to dissatisfaction and disengagement.

Comments and Management Action Required Delivery Lead When to be 
completed by

Progress to date

It is accepted that the scheme of expenses has not recently 
been reviewed, and this will be a priority for the Fostering 
Service to review in 2015. There is guidance available.

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director 

July to 
September 
2015

Changing the way we pay foster carers has 
being discussed in consultation with 
Fostering service managers and with the 
Kent Foster Carers Association as part of the 
Transformation programme and as a 
consequence of a change of payment 
system, but there are no plans to change the 
maintenance and reward structure at 
present. Any inconsistencies or lack of parity 
in the way mileage is paid and some other 
incidental expenses will be further 
investigated.

8. Policies and Procedures. The Service could not provide evidence that the Statement of Purpose (policy) had been signed off by an 
appropriate Member. The National Minimum Standards require the Council to give contact details for the Independent Reviewing Officer in 
the Children’s Guide however although the Children's Guide states that the IRO may be contacted, it does not give relevant details. Policy 
may not align to strategy. There is a risk to the safety of children placed with foster carers if carers are not clear about the acceptable 
measures of restraint that may or may not be used, or if children are unclear how to raise concerns. The Council may not be compliant with 
relevant legislation.

We will ensure the Cabinet Member signs off the current 
Statement of Purpose. We will ensure contact details for the 
Independent Reviewing Officers are in the Children’s Guide.

Geoff Gurney, 
Interim Assistant 
Director 

30th June 2015 Both the Statement of Purpose and the 
Children’s Guide have been re-written and 
signed off following the recent LILAC team 
assessment. These will soon be published 
together with a number of related documents  
as part of a pack given to every child in care.





By: Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel - 3 September 2015

Subject: REVIEW OF TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR CORPORATE 
PARENTING PANEL

Classification: Unrestricted 

Electoral Division: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

The Kent Corporate Parenting Group (KCPG) Terms of Reference 
(attached as Appendix 1) were updated in April 2015, and the 
current Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP) Terms of Reference were 
last updated in 2011. It was proposed that the CPP Terms of 
Reference be updated to both reflect recent national and Council 
developments and to further strengthen the structural and strategic 
links between the Member-led CPP and the multi-agency, officer-led 
KCPG.

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to:

   a) DISCUSS the proposed changes to the Corporate Parenting
       Panel Terms of Reference
   b) AGREE the updated Terms of Reference for this Panel.

1. Current Terms of Reference; April 2011
 
 Corporate Parenting Panel

1. To develop expertise that enables Members to fulfil their role as Corporate 
Parents and act as Champions for Kent children who are looked after;

2. To consider statistical information that includes staffing levels, relevant indicators 
from the National Indicator Set (NIS) and national Looked After Children returns.

3. To consider reports from the Kent Safeguarding Children Board (KSCB), Kent 
Children’s Trust Board, and in relation to Looked After Children, and any changes 
to relevant legislation and guidance;

4. To work alongside the Staff Advisory Group and Children in Care Council in order 
to gather feedback from all those involved in and working  with or on behalf of 



Looked After Children.  This will include ongoing engagement with Foster Carers 
and other user groups;

5. To lead on ensuring that the targeted Corporate Parenting roles and 
responsibilities of the Local Authority are being met, including:-

 
a) To be aware of national expectations regarding the service to Looked After 

Children and Care Leavers, including those contained in Every Child Matters, 
the Healthy Care Initiative and the Care Matters agenda;

b) To have access to qualitative as well as quantitative information on the 
service, and to ensure that Corporate Parenting Panel Members have enough 
background knowledge to understand and evaluate this information;

c) To consider ways in which the Corporate Parenting Panel will hear and 
respond to the views of Looked After Children, their parents and carers;

d) To have an understanding of the arrangements that need to be in place in 
order to be an effective Corporate Parent;

e) To undertake an in-depth analysis of the needs of the County Council’s care 
population and all aspects of the service required to meet those needs, so 
there is clear evidence to inform future action.

f) To take action continually, in conjunction with officers and partner agencies, to 
improve the service and ensure it responds to changing needs.  

g) To report in a timely manner to the relevant local Member(s) as and when 
such may be required.

h) To support the Chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel in undertaking 
their specialist Level 3 Corporate Parenting responsibilities. 

i) To highlight issues relevant for scrutiny
j) To act as the Governing Body to the Virtual School for Kent.

2 Proposed changes to the Corporate Parenting Panel Terms of Reference

2.1  Inclusion of Care leavers

 The Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 created new duties towards children 
leaving care, ensuring they maintained effective support to help them develop 
into independent adults and not leave care until they are ready.

 Over the past year, there has been increased national attention on the issue 
of support given to care leavers. In July 2015, the Office of the Children’s 
Commissioner published a ‘State of the Nation’ report which discussed the 
experiences of young people who had left local authority care, closely 
followed the same month, by a report from the National Audit Office on ‘Care 
leavers’ transitions to adulthood’- a report ordered by the House of Commons.

 The Department for Education (DfE) is clear that corporate parenting 
responsibilities extend to young adults who have been in care, but due to their 
age are no longer formally ‘looked after’.



 The Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations, Volume 3: planning 
transition to adulthood for care leavers (revised January 2015) stipulates: 

“As corporate parents, responsible authorities should provide 
support to care leavers in the same way that reasonable parents 
provide support for their own children”.

“Individual local authorities as good corporate parents will need 
to develop services that are flexible to the needs of young care 
leavers that ensure they remain engaged”.

 The commitment to understanding the needs of and improving services for 
care leavers was one of the key themes running through Nottinghamshire 
County Council’s recent Ofsted Inspection report (published 20 July 2015).  
Particular concerns were raised with regard to Nottinghamshire’s ‘Corporate 
Parenting Sub-Committee’ and the level of active oversight it gave to the 
needs and welfare of young people leaving care.

 Whilst Kent’s Corporate Parenting Panel has considered numerous items 
pertaining to the experiences of and offer to young adults leaving KCC’s care; 
the current Terms of Reference did not sufficiently reflect the Council’s 
Corporate Parenting commitment to this group. This is therefore one of the 
changes put forward for the approval of the Panel.

2.2 Amendments to groups and documents
 As part of the Terms of Reference review, amendments were made to 

documents (national and local) and groups mentioned; removing those that 
are no longer in use e.g. ‘Every Child Matters’ and replacing them with a clear 
accountability to documents such as the Council’s Strategic Statement 2015-
2020.

2.3 Structural amendments
 The structure of the Corporate Parenting Panel Terms of Reference has been 

amended to more closely reflect the information provided within the KCPG 
Terms of Reference, attached as Appendix 1.

3. Proposed Corporate Parenting Panel Terms of Reference September 
2015

3.1 About the Corporate Parenting Panel 

 The Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP) is a forum of Kent County Council’s 
(KCC’s) elected Councillors representing all political parties. This panel, 
chaired by Ann Allen, confirms the joint commitment to improving services 
and outcomes for children and care leavers for whom KCC is corporate 
parent. The Panel is an advisory board to the County Council meetings, 
ensuring the best interests of all Looked After Children and young adults in 
Kent’s care are high priority and shape the Council’s agenda.

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=163


 The Panel’s role is to lead on ensuring the Corporate Parenting 
responsibilities are being met in line with the Children Act 1989. Section 22 of 
the Children Act 1989 sets out the general duty of the local authority in 
relation to children looked after by them; to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of these children, ensuring effective, individualised support and 
access to services. This duty is inclusive of both children and young people 
with Care Orders and those provided with accommodation.  

 The Corporate Parenting Panel takes advice from its multi-agency, officer-led 
sub-group: the Kent Corporate Parenting Group (KCPG). This group is 
chaired by the Director of Specialist Children’s Services. 

 Kent’s Looked-after Children and Care Leavers Strategy 2015-16 sets out 
what good and effective corporate parenting looks like, alongside our key 
strategic objectives. The ‘strategy’s ambitions assist in the Council’s 
overarching vision that “Children and young people in Kent get the best start 
in life”.

 This commitment is one of three strategic outcomes which provide a simple 
and effective focus for everything the Council does; they are set out in Kent 
County Council’s Strategic Statement 2015-2020

3.2 Corporate Parenting Panel is accountable
 To the County Council and Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 

Services,
 To Looked After Children, Care Leavers and their carers or guardians, 

3.3 Roles and responsibilities of the Corporate Parenting Panel
1. To be corporate parenting champions and advocates. To actively raise 

the awareness of other Members, the Cabinet and the County Council 
to the whole Council’s corporate parenting responsibilities towards 
Kent’s Looked After Children and Care Leavers.

2. To oversee and challenge progress and performance against the 
objectives within Kent’s Looked After Children and Care Leavers 
Strategy. The strategy consists of four priority areas which represent 
the Corporate Parenting ambitions for children and young people both 
in care and leaving care:

a) Working together and learning,
b) Developing into successful and responsible adults,
c) Being emotionally, mentally and physically healthy,
d) Feeling safe and nurtured in a home setting.

3. To work alongside the Kent Corporate Parenting Group and Our 
Children and Young People’s Council in order to gather feedback from 
all those involved in and working with/ on behalf of Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers.  This will include ongoing engagement with 
Foster Carers and other user groups.

http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/32251/Looked-after-Children-and-Care-Leavers-Strategy.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/29786/Kent-County-Council-Strategic-Statement.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=113&Year=0
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=28859
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/mgUserInfo.aspx?UID=28859
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/32251/Looked-after-Children-and-Care-Leavers-Strategy.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/32251/Looked-after-Children-and-Care-Leavers-Strategy.pdf
http://www.kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/our-children-and-young-people-s-council
http://www.kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/our-children-and-young-people-s-council


4. To consider statistical information that includes staffing levels, national 
Looked After Children returns and internal Management Information 
about both Looked After Children and Care Leavers’ health, wellbeing 
and attainment. To ensure that Corporate Parenting Panel Members 
have enough background knowledge to understand and evaluate this 
information.

5. To consider reports from the Kent Safeguarding Children Board 
(KSCB), Children’s Health and Wellbeing Board, Children’s Social Care 
and Health Cabinet Committee and Education and Young People’s 
Services Cabinet Committee in relation to Looked After Children and 
Care Leavers. 

6. To consider any changes arising from relevant legislation, guidance or 
reviews.

7. To lead on ensuring that the Corporate Parenting roles and 
responsibilities of the Local Authority are being met, including:- 

a) Local expectations and the promises made via Kent’s Pledge to 
Looked After Children and Kent’s Care Leavers’ Charter;

b) To be aware of national expectations regarding the services to 
Looked After Children (including Unaccompanied Asylum 
Seeking Children) and Care Leavers; including those contained 
in reports from the Office of the Children’s Commissioner, the 
adoption reform agenda, changes to permanence planning and 
the commitment to ‘staying put’;

c) To creatively consider ways in which the Corporate Parenting 
Panel will hear and respond to the views of Looked After 
Children, Care Leavers, their parents and carers;

d) To have an understanding of the arrangements that need to be 
in place in order to be an effective Corporate Parent;

e) To undertake an in-depth analysis of the needs of the County 
Council’s care population and all aspects of the service required 
to meet those needs, so there is clear evidence to inform future 
action.

f) To take action continually, in conjunction with officers and partner 
agencies, to improve services and ensure they are responsive 
and meeting changing needs.  

g) To report in a timely manner to the relevant local Member(s) as 
and when such may be required.

h) To support the Chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel, the 
Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services and Deputy 
Cabinet Members for Specialist Children’s Services in 
undertaking their specialist Level 3 Corporate Parenting 
responsibilities (National Children’s Bureau, Hart and Williams 
2013).

i)  To highlight issues relevant for scrutiny.
j)  To act as the Governing Body to the Virtual School for Kent.

http://www.kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/the-kent-pledge
http://www.kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/the-kent-pledge
https://shareweb.kent.gov.uk/Documents/education-and-learning/school-education/virtual-school/54.3-Kent%20Care%20Leavers%20DL%20Leaflet-2%20_REV5_.pdf
http://www.ncb.org.uk/media/1015188/1307_corporate_parenting_summary.pdf


Frequency of meetings
Meetings take place every two/three months and last on average three hours.  

Administration
Support officer: Theresa Grayell.  03000 416172

4. Recommendations

4.1 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to:

   a) DISCUSS the proposed changes to the Corporate Parenting
           Panel Terms of Reference
  b) AGREE the updated Terms of Reference for this Panel

5. Author details
Emily Perkins
Project Manager 
Specialist Children’s Services
 Emily.Perkins@kent.gov.uk
 03000 416566

6. Background Documents 

 Office of the Children’s Commissioner ‘State of the Nation: Report 1 
Children in Care and Care Leavers Survey 2015’ (8 July 2015) 
http://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publications/state-nation-report-
1-children-care-and-care-leavers-survey-2015 

 National Audit Office ‘Care leavers’ transition to adulthood’ (17 July 2015)
http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Care-leavers-
transition-to-adulthood.pdf 

mailto:Perkins@kent.gov.uk
http://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publications/state-nation-report-1-children-care-and-care-leavers-survey-2015
http://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publications/state-nation-report-1-children-care-and-care-leavers-survey-2015
http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Care-leavers-transition-to-adulthood.pdf
http://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/Care-leavers-transition-to-adulthood.pdf


Appendix to item B3

Kent Corporate Parenting Group (KCPG)

Terms of Reference – 2015/16

About Kent’s Corporate Parenting Group

The Kent Corporate Parenting Group (KCPG) is a multi-agency forum. It 
represents the agencies in Kent who are responsible for delivering good and 
effective corporate parenting for children and young people looked after by 
the local authority, as well as those young people leaving local authority care. 

The primary aim of KCPG is to ensure that appropriate strategies and 
services are in place to:

 safeguard and promote the welfare of all looked after children and care 
leavers who are the responsibility of Kent County Council (KCC), and

 enable this group of children and young people to make positive 
choices and achieve the best possible outcomes during their time in 
care and into adulthood.  

KCPG maintains a close link with Our Children and Young People’s Council 
(OCYPC), an informal group for children aged 11+ to meet and discuss what 
it’s like to be in care and changes they would like to see happen. Virtual 
School Kent Participation Apprentices representing the OCYPC are 
encouraged to attend the Corporate Parenting Panel meetings.

KCPG is accountable:

 To the Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP) which is represented by Kent 
County Council’s elected Councillors. CPP represents the interests of the 
Corporate Parents of children and young people looked after by Kent 
County Council (KCC).

 To Looked After Children, Care Leavers and their carers or guardians. 
 Through each respective member on the group and the relevant senior 

management team of each agency that is represented.

One of the ways in which the ‘Group meets its’ responsibility to inform the 
CPP of activity, is to share the minutes of each KCPG meeting. These 
minutes are subsequently an agenda item at every CPP meeting and give a 
discussion point on the work currently being undertaken and what has been 
achieved to promote positive outcomes for looked after children and care 
leavers.

Roles and responsibilities of KCPG:

http://www.kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/our-children-and-young-people-s-council
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=693&Year=0


KCPG Terms of Reference May 2015

1. To oversee and challenge progress and performance against the 
objectives within Kent’s Looked After Children and Care Leavers Strategy. 
The ‘strategy consists of four priority areas which remain the focus for 
KCPG’s ongoing work for children in local authority care:

 Working together and learning
 Developing into successful and responsible adults
 Being emotionally, mentally and physically healthy
 Feeling safe and nurtured in a home setting

2. To monitor the delivery of Kent’s Pledge to Looked After 
Children and the Care Leavers’ Charter

3. To promote and develop opportunities to participate in 
decision making and the development of services for 
children and young people in care/ leaving care and their 
parents/carers.

4. To ensure that messages regarding the activity of the 
KCPG are fed back to children, young people and carers.

5. To provide the multi-agency strategic direction for services and projects 
working to achieve good outcomes for both children in local authority care 
and leaving care.

6. In partnership with the Corporate Parenting Panel; evaluate the 
effectiveness and impact of the Virtual School Kent (VSK) in approving the 
educational attainment of children and young people in care.

7. To be corporate parenting champions, raising awareness of corporate 
parenting responsibilities within respective agencies.

Frequency of meetings:

Meetings take place on average every 3 months and last two hours.  

Administration:

KCC will be responsible for the preparation of the agenda and papers for the 
meetings of the KCPG, in consultation with the Chair.  Papers will be 
distributed to KCPG members at least 5 working days in advance of any 
meeting.  KCC will also be responsible for the administration, clerking and 
hosting of the Board meetings and will ensure that minutes are taken and 
distributed to Board Members within two weeks of a Board meeting.  The 
Chair will agree minutes before circulation.

Please contact Margaret.Pike@kent.gov.uk; for more information regarding 
this Group.

Alternates:

https://shareweb.kent.gov.uk/Documents/childrens-social-services/looked-after-children/lac-kent-pledge.pdf
https://shareweb.kent.gov.uk/Documents/childrens-social-services/looked-after-children/lac-kent-pledge.pdf
http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/
mailto:Margaret.Pike@kent.gov.uk


KCPG Terms of Reference May 2015

Members of KCPG will be required to attend in person or send their 
apologies.  Deputies may attend in place of KCPG members as long as they 
are of a similar professional background to contribute to the ‘Group’s 
discussions and sufficiently feedback to their respective agency.

Confidentiality:

This meeting will be held in private; however minutes of the meeting will be 
made publically available when circulated alongside the reports pack for CPP 
meetings.

Decision making: 

Made by consensus; a split vote will be put to the Chair for final decision.

KCPG membership 

Name Title Organisation
Chair of KCPG:  Philip 
Segurola

Interim Director, Specialist Children’s Services Kent County Council 

Geoff Gurney Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting Kent County Council
Ann Furminger Service Delivery Director CXK Ltd.
Diana Robinson Lead Special Educational Needs (SEN) Consultant Kent County Council
Lee-Anne Farach Head of Quality Assurance (including management 

of Independent Reviewing Officers)
Kent County Council

Sue Clifton County Manager Care Leavers Service Kent County Council
Ian Darbyshire Senior Commissioning Manager, CAMHS NHS Kent and Medway
Martin Vye Elected Councillor for Canterbury, representative of 

the Corporate Parenting Panel
Kent County Council

Janine Collins Project Support Officer – Kent Troubled Families 
Programme

Kent County Council

Tony Doran Headmaster Virtual School Kent (VSK) Kent County Council
Andrew Heather Principal Education Psychologist Kent County Council
Sue Flynn Head of Health Visiting and Family Nurse 

Partnership
NHS Eastern and Coastal Kent

Dr Noreen Ahmad-Bhatti Consultant Community Paediatrician East Kent Hospitals University 
Trust

Nancy Sayer Designated Nurse for Looked After Children - Kent 
and Medway

Medway Clinical 
Commissioning Group-NHS

Jane O’Rourke Head of Paediatrics and Audiology Kent Community Health NHS 
Trust

Nick Wilkinson County Manager, Youth Offending Service Kent County Council
Simon Bounds Participation and Progression Officer, Skills and 

Employability
Kent County Council

Sarah Whittaker Service Manager Children in Care –North Kent 
(Gravesham, Sevenoaks and Swanley)

Kent County Council

Stephen Gray Chief Executive Officer Young Lives Foundation
Sarah Skinner Business  Manager, Virtual School Kent Kent County Council
Yashi Shah Interim Manager Adoption service Kent and Coram Adoption
Maureen Robinson Service Manager, Management Information Unit Kent County Council

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=693&Year=0
https://www.linkedin.com/title/designated-nurse-for-looked-after-children-kent-and-medway?trk=pprofile_title
https://www.linkedin.com/title/designated-nurse-for-looked-after-children-kent-and-medway?trk=pprofile_title


KCPG Terms of Reference May 2015

Rebecca Ransley Service Manager Children in Care –South Kent 
(Shepway, Dover and Ashford)

Kent County Council

Joanne Rabbitte Service Manager Children in Care –West Kent 
(Maidstone, Tunbridge Wells and Tonbridge and 
Malling)

Kent County Council

Anne Nerva Service Manager for Children in Care- East Kent 
(Thanet)

Kent County Council

Paul Brightwell Service Manager for Children in Care-East Kent 
(Canterbury, Swale)

Kent County Council

TBC TBC Kent Police
Foster carers - Kent County Council 



By:          Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist  
                                        Children’s Services

         Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director Social Care, Health      
                                       and Wellbeing 
To:          Corporate Parenting Panel – 3 September 2015

Subject: REVIEW OF HEALTH SERVICES FOR CHILDREN LOOKED 
AFTER IN KENT

Classification:        Unrestricted

Electoral Division:         All

Summary: Report providing Corporate Parenting Panel with an update on 
progress against the Care Quality Commission Review Report of 
Health Services for Children Looked After in Kent.

Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to  NOTE 
the content of the report

1 Introduction

1.1 Attached as Appendix 1 is a report by NHS Kent and Medway Looked After 
Children detailing progress made against the action plan produced following 
the review of Health Services for Looked After Children in Kent
(Communities served by West Kent, Swale and Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical Commissioning Groups) by the Care Quality Commission in 
April 2014.

 
2. Recommendation

2.1     Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to  NOTE the content of 
the report

Andrew Ireland
Corporate Director – Social Care, Health and Wellbeing
03000 416720
andrew.ireland@kent.gov.uk

Background documents: None

mailto:andrew.ireland@kent.gov.uk




Appendix to item B4

Looked After Children 

Report to Kent County Council Corporate Parenting Panel

03rd September 2015

Review of Health Services for Children Looked After in Kent (Communities served by West Kent, 
Swale and Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley Clinical Commissioning Groups) by the Care Quality 
Commission April 2014. 

An update on progress against the action plan

West Kent CCG and Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG commission a dedicated LAC team from 
KCHFT to provide health services laid out in the Statutory Guidance on Promoting the Health and 
Well-being of Looked After Children (DCSF, 2009). 

The CQC review report made 8 dedicated LAC recommendations and one recommendation that 
involve this vulnerable group of service users. The CQC required that all the CCGs involved in the 
review, KCHFT and Kent County Council work jointly to address the areas laid out in the 8 LAC 
recommendations. 

The CQC found areas of good practice in the assessment of the health needs of LAC but found a 
significant number of concerns with the lack of appropriately commissioned services for the children 
looked after by Swale CCG. A contract variation is currently being worked through and a new service 
in Swale is expected to be in place by September.

A great deal of work has been undertaken to address the concerns raised by the CQC and of the 8 
LAC recommendations. Progression and monitoring of the recommendations is now being achieved 
through a Service Development Improvement Plan (SDIP).  As the SDIP has now superseded the CQC 
action plan, recommendations with the exception of 11.1 & 12.1 have been closed.

Outstanding LAC actions include:

 A jointly agreed DNA policy. Sussex Partnership Foundation Trust is working through the 
policy to ensure it includes LAC as a distinct group.

 DNA – escalation pathways. As above.



Nancy Sayer Designated Nurse for Looked After Children – Kent and Medway

Promoting the health and well-being of looked after children. Statutory guidance for local 
authorities, clinical commissioning groups and NHS England. March 2015. 

Changes for health care of looked after children

The revised statutory guidance was reissued in March 2015 and replaces the previous guidance from 
2009. The document is produced jointly by Department of Education and Department of Health. It is 
issued by the Secretary of State under section 7 Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 and section 
10 and 11 of the Children Act 2004, local authorities, CCGs and NHS England must follow it unless 
there is a good reason not to. 

Overarching principles

Understanding the needs of our local population of looked after children through the Joint Needs 
Strategic Needs Assessment which will support better planning to meet their needs.

Looked after children should never be denied a service because the location or length of their 
placement.

Looked after children should always be registered (permanently as far as possible) with a GP and 
have access to a dentist. 

Many people/services have a part to play in promoting the health of looked after children.

Mental and emotional health is as important as physical health, as they impact on an individual 
reaching their full potential and will impact all other areas of life.

Cooperation and communication are key to improving health outcomes for this vulnerable group.

The voice of the child is at the centre of all that we do.

Strategic planning

Everyone’s responsibility: LA’s, CCGs and NHS England.

All commissioners of health services should have appropriate arrangements and resources in place 
to meet the physical, emotional and mental health needs of the population of looked after children.

Gather information to inform strategic priorities through the JSNA process – ensuring looked after 
children are high on the agenda.

Commissioning of services for individual children should be consistent with the responsible 
commissioner guidance. 

Arrangements for the smooth transition of care from children to adult services are in place for 
looked after children.

Commissioners, whether they sit within the responsible local authority, CCGs or NHS England, should 
commission services which meet the following requirements:



Nancy Sayer Designated Nurse for Looked After Children – Kent and Medway

 Health professionals contributing to the care planning cycle for looked-after children should 
have the appropriate skills and competences and receive continuing professional 
development.

 Providers have arrangements in place for relevant training and clinical supervision of 
professionals contributing to the healthcare of looked-after children, including those who 
are employed by the local authority. 

 Clinical governance and audit arrangements are in place to assure the quality of health 
services for looked-after children. 

Health professionals and the role of named health professionals for looked after children

All healthcare staff who come into contact with looked-after children should work within the Royal 
Colleges’ intercollegiate framework. 

All staff should have access to appropriate continuing professional development opportunities, 
clinical supervision and support to facilitate their understanding of the clinical aspects of child 
welfare and information sharing in relation to looked-after children. 

The named health professional will work in (and usually be employed by) a health provider 
organisation. He or she will act as a principal health contact for children’s social care and should 
have up-to-date specialist knowledge of the health needs of looked-after children or know how to 
access it.

The named health professional should work closely with the designated professionals for looked-
after children.

GP Practices

From 1 April 2015, all patients (including children) should have a named GP at the practice with 
which they are registered, who is responsible for the coordination of services provided under the GP 
contract. 

GP practices should: 

• Ensure timely access to a GP or other appropriate health professional when a looked-after child 
requires a consultation 

• Provide summaries of the health history of a child who is looked after, including information on 
immunisations and covering their family history where relevant and appropriate, and ensure that 
this information is passed promptly to health professionals undertaking health assessments 

• Maintain a record of the health assessment and contribute to any necessary action within the 
health plan 



Nancy Sayer Designated Nurse for Looked After Children – Kent and Medway

• Make sure the GP-held clinical record for a looked-after child is maintained and updated and that 
health records are transferred quickly if the child registers with a new GP practice, such as when he 
or she moves into another CCG area, leaves care or is adopted. 

Promoting good emotional and mental health

CCGs, local authorities and NHS England should ensure that CAMHS and other services provide 
targeted and dedicated support to looked-after children according to need. This could include a 
dedicated team or seconding a CAMHS professional into a looked-after children multi-agency team. 
Professionals need to work together with the child to assess and meet their mental health needs in a 
tailored way.

Placement out of Authority

In making a judgement about the suitability of an out of authority placement for a child, the 
responsible authority should assess, with input from health services, the arrangements which it will 
need to put in place to enable the child to access services such as primary and secondary health 
care. 

How the CCG’s, Providers of health care and Kent County Council are working together to improve 
the health outcomes of looked after children

All Kent CCGs have recognised the importance of county-wide coordination of Adoption and LAC and 
therefore have given renewed commitment to the role and function of the Kent Joint Adoption and 
LAC Health Commissioner Group. Kent CCGs are determined to take this opportunity to better 
coordinate themselves in order to fulfil their statutory obligations and to deliver effective services.

The group brings together senior representatives of all 7 CCGs and the local authority to discuss and 
agree on matters relating to adoption and LAC in Kent. The meetings are currently chaired by the 
Accountable Officer of Thanet CCG.

The relationship chart below details clearly how this group relates, and feeds into the wider Local 
Authority and Health agenda



Nancy Sayer Designated Nurse for Looked After Children – Kent and Medway

There are two sub-group of the Group:
- LAC and Care Leaver Operational Group which is Chaired and administered on rotation, by a 

lead provider
- LAC Health and Wellbeing Group which is chaired by the Designated Nurse for LAC

End of Report: 11.08.15

                                      

           



Nancy Sayer Designated Nurse for Looked After Children – Kent and Medway

               



By:   Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services

  Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and     
  Wellbeing

To:   Corporate Parenting Panel - 3 September 2015

Subject: HEAD TEACHER OF VIRTUAL SCHOOL KENT (VSK)  UPDATE 
REPORT

Classification: Unrestricted 

Electoral Division: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

This report provides Members with an overview of the Pupil 
Premium Grant for CiC, known as Pupil Premium Plus  (PP+) and 
the progress made by the new VSK 16-18 educational support work 
stream
 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the 
progress made by the Virtual School Kent

1.  Introduction

1.1 The DfE made significant changes to the criteria and deployment of the 
Children in Care (CiC) element of the Pupil Premium (PP) grant for 2014-15 
financial year. These changes were researched and developed by the DfE 
through a pilot with West Sussex and their Virtual School. Following this pilot 
the DfE produced two key documents announcing significant national changes 
in the arrangements for Pupil Premium for Children in Care (CiC) for financial 
year 2014/15. These two documents can be found on the Virtual School Kent’s 
(VSK) website at: http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/

Pupil Premium Grant 2014 to 2015 Conditions of Grant (February 2014)
Pupil Premium and the role of the Virtual School Headteacher 2014-15 - 

Frequently Asked Questions (March 2014)

1.2 Key changes included, the formulae amount per CiC which was raised to £1900; the 
length of time in care eligibility criteria reduced from six months to first day in care and 
the deployment model which became ring fenced to a set criteria deployed through the 
Virtual School and its Head Teacher.

2. Policy

2.1 All Virtual Schools were required to produce a working policy to meet the new 
deployment requirements based on the two DfE documents listed above. The key 
guidance document was released on the 24 March 2014 which was problematic for 
schools who had already completed their budget build. This is why the Virtual School 
agreed to make a first direct payment of 5/12ths to each school based on 31 March 
SSDA 903 return, all subsequent applications were to be made on a child’s needs 
driven model with no cash limit.

2.2 Overall principles underpinning our child’s needs driven model

http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/


2.3 The Virtual School Head teacher is responsible for the use of Pupil Premium 
Plus to close the learning gap and realise the potential for all children in local 
authority care, wherever they live.

2.4     The funding will be provided according to the needs of the child and there is no 
    set amount.

2.5     Kent County Council and the Virtual School Head teacher are Corporate 
    Parents, so the question ‘would this be good enough for my child?’ is a central 
    one in making decisions and evaluating the effectiveness of the use of Pupil 
    Premium Plus

2.6    How and why will the amount of Pupil Premium Plus vary?

2.7   Children’s needs may vary over time and therefore a personalised approach is 
  needed. For some children a significant amount will be required to fund the cost of 
  the support they need eg:

 Children who come into care in an emergency with a fragmented home 
and education history who are behind academically

 Children who move into or out of Kent who may require additional 
support

 Children with significant and often delayed reaction to abuse and 
neglect, which may present as complex emotional, social and/or 
challenging behaviour impacting on progress

2.8   In view of this, there may be variations in the amount of Pupil Premium Plus 
  distributed.

2.9   Proposals to pool Pupil Premium Plus in a school or group of schools to 
  enhance services, providing its use is directly linked to the needs of CiC via 
  the PEP, are acceptable.

   2.10   The full VSK Pupil Premium Plus Policy for Kent Children in Care can be found 
   on the VSK website

             http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/resources/pupil-premium

3.  Financial allocation of PP+ per locality

3.1 Geographical dispersal of Kent CIC identifies: 
 East Kent with 41.6% of eligible CiC
 South Kent with 24.3%
 West Kent with11%
 North Kent with 13.7% 
 and the remainder placed outside of Kent

http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/resources/pupil-premium


Figure 1.

.

3.2 Figure 1 highlights the PP+ spend in each locality area. 2014-15 PP+ spend was 
roughly in line with population distribution with the exception of Thanet where they 
account for 19% of cohort and 25% of grant deployment. This again links with the PP+ 
policy around the Child Needs Model and the number of more complex CiC
placed in East Kent due to location of specialist care settings.

3.3 In addition to the direct payments and initiatives in the localities VSK directly 
commissioned activities which included literacy development programmes such as 
Beanstalk and Paired Reading.

3.4 There have been a myriad of interventions and support programmes generated for
CiC across the county. 23% of the grant in localities has been spent on 1:1 tuition; a 
further 19% utilised on targeted individual support; 36% focused on group or school 
based approaches and 18% on collaborative approaches across schools.

4. Good Practice Examples

Striving to Thriving at The Leigh Academy
4.1 A need was identified by school staff who had concerns for some more vulnerable 

students. They identified within their students that low self-esteem, anxiety and lack of 
confidence impacted upon achievement, aspiration and ability to respond 
appropriately when difficulties arise.

4.2 The brief was to devise a specific bespoke programme, using Cognitive Behavioural 
Techniques (CBT), coupled with Positive Psychology strategies the Striving to 
Thriving programme aims to improve: 

 Relational difficulties: unhealthy/dysfunctional 
 Poor communication skills 
 Low aspiration 
 Negative self-talk 



 Poor self esteem 
 Poor emotional resilience 
 Poor self-nurture 

4.3 The full report evidences the outcomes; details the methodology, content and 
how the programme fulfilled some specific aims for several students at 
The Leigh Academy.

4.4 Programme impact 
The key conclusions are: 

 Students averaged an improvement of 10 points on the 
WEMWBS (Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well Being Scale) 
scale, measuring improvement in emotional wellbeing. 

 Improved support networks 
 More effective communication styles 
 A more positive outlook, more optimistic about the future 
 Ability to challenge negative thinking 
 Increases in confidence have enabled participants to: 

o Challenge and tackle unhealthy aspects in relationships 
o Establish healthier boundaries regarding their and 

others behaviour 
 More effective communication styles 
 A deeper recognition of strengths will enable a more resilient 

response to stresses and difficult situations 

Canterbury Coastal Alliance Project

4.5 Head teacher representatives from the Alliance with VSK met to discuss collaborative 
approaches to using the PP+ Grant. The Alliance identified the prime areas of need for 
these children that the schools felt were not being met as well as they should be via 
the usual routes especially regarding speed of response. These areas were:

 Access to therapy/therapeutic work: children in care often struggle with 
emotional/mental health difficulties. Support through organisations such as 
CAMHS, Young Healthy Minds and other similar professional bodies, is difficult 
to access and there is often a waiting list often of between twelve and eighteen 
months. The schools recognised that this was not ideal and would welcome a 
trained and accredited therapeutic professional being available to the children 
when they needed it. Therefore, the proposal of the Alliance employing an 
art/play therapist (more Primary based) and a psychotherapist (more 
Secondary based) was outlined

 Access to Speech and Language Therapy: it is becoming clear that many 
children in care need support with their speech and language development. The 
current situation regarding the Speech and Language Therapy service is that it 
is difficult to access without a Statement of Special Educational 
Need/Education, Health & Care Plan where speech and language issues are 
identified. Without this, referrals are becoming harder for schools to make and 
rarely accepted. Therefore, the Alliance felt that hiring a Speech and Language 
therapist would guarantee that their children in care would be seen as and 
when needed without the need for unnecessary paperwork and long waiting 
periods

 Extended access to the Education Psychology Service: this service operates on 
a basis of a service level agreement with schools. This would also be an 
invaluable aid should schools feel that a child in care would benefit from having 
an Education, Health & Care Plan



4.6 The expected impact will be:
 Improved engagement with the learning process and the confidence to take 

risks with their learning, see the value in education and develop ambitions and 
aspirations for the future

 Improved social interactions/relationships whereby children can make and 
maintain meaningful and positive relationships with their peers and adults

 Better understanding and interventions for mental health difficulties experienced 
by many children in care, with the appropriate support in place when it is 
needed

 Informed educational interventions that support children appropriately and 
ensure they are given the best opportunities to experience success and 
progress academically in line with their peers

 Improved levels of speaking and listening which are the foundations for learning 
and interaction: children will be better placed to have the correct support with 
their understanding of the language of the classroom; their ability to listen 
appropriately for salient information; their ability to formulate appropriate 
responses to a range of people in varying contexts

 Opportunities for staff development and training from their resident experts in 
order to best support children in care in their classrooms, and their colleagues

English as an Additional Language (EAL) Tutor to work with Unaccompanied Asylum
Seeking Children (UASC) South Kent

4.7 South Kent are funding the services of a qualified EAL tutor to teach basic English to 
UASC who have little or no spoken / written English skills on arrival in the locality. The 
tutor works with students prior to them starting mainstream school and will continue to 
support them during their integration. 

4.8 The expected outcome is for these students to integrate more quickly into mainstream 
curriculum and social networks and to improve their English vocabulary as quickly as 
possible to support their learning and social needs. 

English Tutor North Kent

4.9 Currently working with 12YP in Y6 and 11 (9 secondary age and 3 Primary aged 
students). All Y 11 students have seen a rise of between 1 and 4 grades for their 
English GCSE predictions. One of the year 11s re-engagement in English and studies 
has prevented a potential permanent exclusion. Two of the three Y6s have moved 
from Amber to Green cohort (on target to achieve Level 4+ in Reading, Writing and 
Mathematics). One of the Y6s, although making progress, has been identified as 
needing an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP).

A Responsive Individualised PP+ Plan for Roger

4.10 Year 11 student at Holmesdale Technology College. Not motivated in his education, 
not attending revision or additional support classes, predicted E Grade in all GCSEs, 
no clear progression plans and no support at home.

4.11 Initial package identified 1:1 tuition for English and Mathematics with identified school 
support, closely tracked and monitored by VSK. Quickly identified Roger wasn’t 
engaging with tuition, therefore VSK and school identified a programme of intensive 
mentoring to get Roger to a place where he was willing to access additional support. 
Key worker put in place then gradually introduced Roger to Homework support and 
later back into tuition.



4.12 Outcomes to date:-
Mathematics GCSE Grade C achieved (First entry)
All remaining GCSE’s predicted Grade C
Secured place on Public Services course for September.

Paired Reading Project

4.13 Previous literature has shown that Paired Reading is an effective way of supporting 
children in care to make progress in their reading. A previous research project 
completed in Hampshire (Alfano, 2011) showed that Children in Care made significant 
gains in their reading as a result of their engagement in a sixteen week paired reading 
project. 

4.14 Kent Educational Psychology Service (KEPS) was commissioned to deliver this 
project by VSK, as a way of improving the reading progress of Children in Care. A 
further aim was to replicate the project completed in Hampshire, and establish 
whether it would improve the reading of children in care situated in the Kent context. 
The sixteen week project was undertaken between September 2014 and March 2015. 
It was completed in South Kent, mainly centred on the areas of Ashford, Folkestone, 
Dover, Lydd and Canterbury.  

4.15 Initially, twenty-five names were referred to KEPS from VSK. The criteria for inclusion 
in the project was a reading age two years below that of their chronological age, a 
stable foster carer placement and the children were under 11 years old.

4.16 Consent was initially obtained for sixteen children. A total of eleven children completed 
the project. This meant that there was a 31% attrition rate. Compared to previous 
studies completed in Hampshire, this is a favourable rate to attrition. The main 
reason for attrition was that the child’s placement was unstable due to challenging 
behaviour, and it was felt by foster carers and social workers that they needed to 
prioritise a stable school placement.

4.17 Of the children who completed the project, seven were male and four were female. 
Ten of the children were in Primary school, and one was in Secondary school. The 
average reading age for the children pre-intervention was eight years, one month. At 
pre-intervention, there were two children at ceiling, meaning that they performed at the 
highest level on the reading assessment.

4.18 Results
 At post intervention, the average reading age was nine years, four months. This 

means there was a reading gain of fifteen months. Four children were at ceiling 
during the post-intervention assessment

 The average Reading Self Concept for the children at pre-intervention was 3.3. 
At post intervention, this average had increased to 3.6

 Qualitative information collected from telephone conversations with a sample of 
four foster carers, both those who had completed the project and those who 
had not, suggested that it was viewed very positively by the foster carers, even 
those who had not been able to complete the project. Those foster carers 
whose children had dropped out of the project asked to be kept informed about 
the possibility of re-joining the project at a later date, should it be run in the area 
again. Generally, the foster carers enjoyed the 1:1 time, and it began an open 
forum for general conversation, so they completed paired reading and then 
discussed daily life following this. One foster carer also believed the project had 



impacted upon the child’s spelling and general literacy skills, although formal 
measures were not collected to confirm this 

5. Issues and Next Steps

5.1 The size and scale of Kent and its CiC population, coupled with a flexible needs based 
deployment model, mean administration of this grant is complex and time consuming. 
Additional administration support was requested, but denied due to austerity and 
utilising the PP+ grant itself to administer does not comply with the conditions of the 
grant. Year one has been tracked and monitored via a manual spreadsheet system, 
which has met our basic needs, however a more robust and elaborate analysis tool is 
needed to maximise the efficient and effective use of this grant.

5.2 Other Local Authority (OLA) CiC has a significant impact on schools particularly in 
East Kent. It is now commonplace for secondary schools in East Kent to have in 
excess of thirty CiC, with the potential for some schools to have to liaise with sixteen 
different Virtual Schools to secure their requested PP+ grant allocation. The DfE have 
not standardised application forms or models other than what is set out in the 
guidance discussed in section two of this paper. This means that there are 
potentially 152 different application processes for schools to navigate.

5.3 Next Steps for 2015-16
 PP+ payments to schools in the 2015-16 financial year will be entirely based on 

the child’s needs driven model
 Student support plans linked to their to electronic Personal Education Plan (e-

PEP) and PP+ grant application will move to an academic year plan rather than 
fitting in spending within financial year constraints. Work has is already coming 
to completion to develop the e-PEP system to allow live tracking of payments 
linked to either individual plans or agreed school or collaborative plans. E-PEP 
also tracks wider support given by the Virtual School and student progress

 The PP+ process and impact will be reviewed between October 2015 and 
January 2016 to evidence impact and areas for development. This consultation 
will be in time to review and renew existing process, if need be, for financial 
year 2016-17 assuming PP+ will continue in the same way

6.  Educational Support for 16-18 Year Old CiC and Care Leavers

6.1 With the extension of VSK responsibility commencing in January 2015, limited work 
was able to begin until the additional staff were in place to support the work stream. 
Focus started on the arrangement of delivering Post 16 update training to the new 
Children in Care Social Worker teams – to ensure they were informed of the most up-
to-date options/support available for those post 16.

6.2 Staffing
 Assistant Head teacher with Operational responsibility
 Four Post 16 Support Officers 
 Data administrator 
 Post 16 Participation Apprentice 

6.3 The main progress has been with the development of the Post 16 Support Officers 
and their links with education/training providers, to be able to better support young 
people – enabling these young people to make more informed choices as to their 
options, in turn leading to less withdrawal and more positive onward destinations. 



6.4 Training has also been a strong development priority since February 2015.  
Training regarding the post 16 sector has been delivered to around 150 
professionals to date across the county. Feedback has been extremely 
positive and already the team are seeing an improvement in communication and  
collaboration between services.  The training has been delivered by the 
Headteacher VSK and Simon Bounds (from Employability and Skills), along with 
representatives from CXK and local Colleges. 

6.5    Training has been delivered to:
 new College and University Designated Members of Staff on their role as the 

DMS
 the locality Virtual School Kent teams on understanding the post 16 sector 
 Virtual School Kent Participation Apprentices on understanding the post 16 

sector – with the plan to then link them with colleges to be an additional 
resources for young people at the college or considering joining 

 new Children in Care teams  on understanding the post 16 sector 
 The Post 16 Team and The VSK Project and Information Officer have been 

trained on IYSS (the Integrated Youth Support System Database) – Access and 
editing rights permitted at the end of April 2015

 Post 16 training offer to the Independent Reviewing Officers, the VSK Nurses 
and the VSK Admin team completed 

 In discussions to offer the training to Social Worker students as part of their 
degree course 

 Post 16 ePEP training delivered in March/April 

6.6 Progress made to date
 Collaboration has been effective between the KCC Employability and Skills 

team and VSK team through the delivery of training, through meetings and 
shadowing for the Post 16 Support Officers, resulting in better information 
given to young people and key professionals 

 Links with local colleges have also developed further, with the Post 16 
Support Workers arranging to work from their local colleges on a regular 
basis to build links and raise awareness to the needs of the cohort, and to 
increase collaboration. The young person will be able to access the Post 16 
Support Officer whilst at college, making it more convenient for them if they 
wish to access the support

 Working with CXK has also been an additional resource whilst waiting to 
have the VSK Post 16 team in place, they have been working with young 
people classed as NEET, and have now been linking in more closely with 
the VSK Post 16 team

 The Post 16 Support Officers are also now able to build links with alternative 
providers in their areas to identify options for the young person – for 
example Gillingham Football Charity Trust are looking to offer VSK 
opportunities for those post 16 to following a meeting with the VSK 
16+team. The team has already identified three possible new opportunities 
for young people through their contacts

 The VSK Post 16 Participation Apprentice has been focusing on the 
promotion of Apprenticeships and has been working with the Assisted 
Apprenticeship Manager on developing resources to be able to promote the 
scheme. Work has also started to look at alternative participation activities 
for those post-16 by linking in with the colleges to see if they are able to 
offer activities

 The Post 16 ePEP has only recently been launched (designed and 
developed by VSK with eGov) and will be a huge advantage to tracking and 



monitoring the completion of PEPs for the post 16 cohort. Training has been 
arranged for the College and University Designated Members of Staff

 To support transition, the Locality monthly meetings during February 
focused on the year 11 cohort and their onward post 16 destination. The 
relevant local colleges were invited to the meetings, along with CXK to 
support the discussion around options and to being the handover of young 
people if going to college. VSK staff were able to provide the colleges with 
key information to support the transition. The meetings were very productive 
and informative. Ongoing monitoring of the cohort is continuing through the 
locality team meetings. The Post 16 Support Officers will be attending their 
area locality meetings

6.7 Data
 The Post 16 cohort currently stands at 635 young people.  The challenge has 

been updating the current status of all young people due to having to check 
through four different data sources.

Data was not fully cleansed until April evidencing :
 168 young people NEET
 68 young people Not Known 

Data as of 29 May 2015:
 132 young people NEET*
 24 young people Not Known 



6.8 Outcomes
 Feedback from those who have attended the recent training was that they had 

left the session with a clearer understanding of the options available for those 
post 16, focusing on the more unusual options which may be better suited to 
our young people. They often provide a more flexible approach in a smaller 
setting, or are working closely with employers to gain work experiences.  

 With better transition support, young people will feel they are more supported in 
their post 16 destination, and more likely to speak out if the choice isn’t right for 
them.

 With the closer working relationship between the colleges and VSK, earlier 
identification of those of concern will support the young person through any 
challenges they are facing at an earlier stage before things become too difficult.

 April saw the first month with a fully staffed service and access to primary data 
source. Impact evidenced in May was a reduction in both NEET and ‘Not 
Knowns’ of 21% and 65% respectively.

7.      Recommendations:

7.1     Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the progress made    
by the Virtual School Kent

8. Report Author

Tony Doran
Headteacher
Virtual School Kent 
Mobile -  07921038094
Email   -  tony.doran@kent.gov.uk
Website- http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/
YP's Website-http://www.kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/

9. Background documents
None

mailto:tony.doran@kent.gov.uk
http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/
http://www.kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/

	Agenda
	A2 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 18 June 2015
	A6 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member
	B1 Adoption Service Annual Reports for 2014 - 2015
	B1 - Appendix 1 Kent Annual Report 2014-2015 Final
	B1 - Appendix 2 Corporate Parenting Panel 2015-09-03 - Child's Journey Annual report 2014-15
	B1 - Appendix 3 Corporate Parenting Panel 2015-09-03- Adopters Journey Annual report 2014-15

	B2 Kent Fostering Annual Report 2014 - 2015
	B2 - Appendix 1 Centralised Service Structure Chart
	B2 - Appendix 2 Area Based Fostering Service Structure Chart
	B2 - Appendix 3 Fostering Action Plan

	B3 Review of Terms of Reference for Corporate Parenting Panel
	B3 - Appendix 1 KCPG ToR April 2015

	B4 Review of Health Services for Children Looked After in Kent
	B4 - Appendix 1 Review of Health Services for Children in Care

	B5 Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) update report

